
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, TRANSPORT 
AND CLIMATE EMERGENCY SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 
DATE: THURSDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2023  
TIME: 5:30 pm 
PLACE: Meeting Room G.01, Ground Floor, City Hall, 115 Charles 

Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ 
 
 
Members of the Committee 
 
Councillor Waddington (Chair) 
Councillor O'Neill (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors Batool, Dawood, Osman, Porter, Rae Bhatia and Whittle 
 
Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed overleaf. 

 
For Monitoring Officer 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Officer contacts:  
Ed Brown (Scrutiny Policy Officer) and Jessica Skidmore (Democratic Support Officer), 

Tel: 0116 4546350, e-mail: committees@leicester.gov.uk 
Leicester City Council, City Hall, 3rd Floor Granby Wing, 115 Charles Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ 

 



 

Information for members of the public 
 
Attending meetings and access to information 
 
You have the right to attend formal meetings such as full Council, committee meetings, City Mayor & 
Executive Public Briefing and Scrutiny Commissions and see copies of agendas and minutes. On 
occasion however, meetings may, for reasons set out in law, need to consider some items in private.  
 
Dates of meetings and copies of public agendas and minutes are available on the Council’s website 
at www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk, from the Council’s Customer Service Centre or by contacting us 
using the details below.  
 
Making meetings accessible to all 
 
Wheelchair access – Public meeting rooms at the City Hall are accessible to wheelchair users.  
Wheelchair access to City Hall is from the middle entrance door on Charles Street - press the plate on 
the right hand side of the door to open the door automatically. 
 
Braille/audio tape/translation - If you require this please contact the Democratic Support Officer 
(production times will depend upon equipment/facility availability). 
 
Induction loops - There are induction loop facilities in City Hall meeting rooms.  Please speak to the 
Democratic Support Officer using the details below. 
 
Filming and Recording the Meeting - The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to 
record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including 
social media.  In accordance with government regulations and the Council’s policy, persons and press 
attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where 
the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting.  
Details of the Council’s policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or from Democratic Support. 
 
If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant 
Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in 
advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public 
gallery etc.. 
 
The aim of the Regulations and of the Council’s policy is to encourage public interest and 
engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked: 
 to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption; 
 to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided; 
 where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting; 
 where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they 

may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed. 
 
Further information  
 
If you have any queries about any of the above or the business to be discussed, please contact: 
Jessica Skidmore, Democratic Support Officer on 0116 4546350.  Alternatively, email 
committees@leicester.gov.uk, or call in at City Hall. 
 
For Press Enquiries - please phone the Communications Unit on 0116 454 4151. 
 

http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk/
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/


(SPC18Oct01-Agendas2001 

PUBLIC SESSION 
 

AGENDA 
 

 
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION 
 
If the emergency alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building immediately by the 
nearest available fire exit and proceed to the area outside the Ramada Encore Hotel 
on Charles Street as directed by Democratic Services staff. Further instructions will 
then be given. 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

 Members will be asked to declare any interests they may have in the business 
to be discussed on the agenda.  
 

3. CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY PLAN 
CONSULTATION  

 

Appendix A 

 The Director of Estates and Building Services submits a report on the Leicester 
City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan. 
 
A series of presentations will be provided to Members, both from the City 
Council’s perspective and from the Climate Commission and Climate 
Emergency Partnership. 
 
Members are recommended to note the contents of the report and provide 
comments to the Director of Estates and Building Services.  
 

4. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 

 

 





Draft Climate Emergency Action 
Plan 2023-28

Economic Development, Transport & Climate Emergency Scrutiny Commission
16th November 2023

1 A
ppendix A



CLLR ADAM CLARKE 
DEPUTY CITY MAYOR - PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR CLIMATE, ECONOMY & 
CULTURE

Opening remarks2



In this presentation….

1. Building on the first Climate Emergency Action 
Plan (2020-23)

2. Overview of the new plan

3. How the new plan is being developed

3



A FEW OF THE SUCCESSES FROM THE FIRST 
ACTION PLAN…

4



• More than 500 
privately owned 
homes retrofitted

• Over 2300 energy 
saving measures in 
council homes

• Over £24m Salix 
investment into  
schools and 
operational estate

5



£1.17m grants   205 businesses   c1500t carbon 

6



Replacement of 116 diesel 
buses with EVs in progress, 
saving 2,053 tCO2e per year

Electrified Park & Ride and 
Hospital Hopper services

Hop! electric shuttle launched

Tap-on, tap-off bus ticketing 
system

St Margaret’s net zero bus 
station

Bikeability training for 3,220 
pupils

Over 8km new cycling routes

Reached 1,400 20mph streets

7



Over 28,500 new trees

Tree Wardens scheme 
launched, alongside existing 
Leicester Environmental 
Volunteers

Flood risk projects, including 
Everards Meadows

Sustainable drainage 
projects in 3 schools

65 ‘green flag’ Eco Schools –
top local authority area

Expanded Gypsum Close 
Reuse Shop – 91,000 items 
sold in past year

8



Aims of the new plan

Climate Ready 
Leicester aims

A net zero city
Reduced 

emissions outside 
the city

An adapted and 
resilient city

Supporting our 
wider vision

A net zero and 
climate-adapted 

council

9



Approach to achieving net zero ambition 

Net zero by 2030, with 
govt. support

Reduce energy and fuel 
demand Transition to electricity Renewables

10



THEMES AREAS OF FOCUS

The council Operational buildings, new construction, fleet, procurement, 
resilience

Housing Fuel poverty, council housing retrofit, private rented via 
discretionary licensing, owner occupied via govt. funding

Business, public services and 
community

Council’s commercial rented property, SMEs, schools and young 
people, collaboration across public sector

Transport Local Transport Decarbonisation Plan, active travel, buses, EV 
chargers, new/smart technologies, push for rail improvements

Land and infrastructure Local Plan, Biodiversity Net Gain, flooding, energy infrastructure

Consumption and waste Waste Strategy, recycling service improvements, council waste, 
awareness of lower carbon dietary choices/options

Actions supporting the whole plan
Communications, training, community and government 
engagement, partnership development, widening funding, 
adaptation updated risk assessment and review

11



86 new and ongoing actions including…

• Net Zero Delivery Plan for council’s estate and operations, and £1.26M further 
investment

• Low carbon developments at Stocking Farm, Dock 3-5, Pilot House, Leicester Market

• Fuel Poverty Programme, Home Upgrade Grants and Warm Homes Surveys

• Around 900 energy saving measures in council housing (in year 1)

• Waste Strategy

• Recycling in Business Centres

• Flood alleviation projects

• EV Transition and Infrastructure Strategy

• Bus Service Improvement Plan

• Action guide for residents

12



How the new plan is being developed

Carbon Neutral 
Roadmap –

evidence base 

Roundtable 
action planning 

with service 
areas 

Consultation on
draft plan

Amend and 
finalise plan, 

and adoption by 
Council

Climate 
Emergency 
Programme 

Board -
oversight of 

delivery 

13



Shaping the plan

Questionnaire survey until 
10th December Views of public and organisations

Young people workshop Young people’s perspective on the issues

Climate Commission
Independent review of the proposals by panel of 
climate experts drawn from Leicester Environmental  
Experts Reference Group

Climate Emergency 
Partnership

Partner organisations review of proposals and ideas  
as a basis for collaboration towards shared climate 
goals

EDTCE Scrutiny Commission Democratic scrutiny of proposals in public setting

14



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leicester City Council’s 

 

Climate Emergency Action Plan  
2023-28 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSULTATION DRAFT  

15



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

2 
 

Contents 
 

Executive summary .................................................................................................................... 3 

Our updated strategy ......................................................................................................... 3 

Action plan ......................................................................................................................... 4 

The scale of the challenge we face ............................................................................................ 6 

Steps on the journey so far ........................................................................................................ 7 

Our strategy ............................................................................................................................... 8 

Aim 1: A net zero city ............................................................................................................. 9 

Aim 2: Reduced emissions outside the city ......................................................................... 13 

Aim 3: An adapted and resilient city .................................................................................... 15 

Aim 4: Supporting our wider vision ..................................................................................... 16 

Aim 5: A net zero and climate-adapted council................................................................... 17 

Widening involvement ............................................................................................................. 18 

Delivering, updating and reporting back on this plan ............................................................. 19 

Further information and enquiries .......................................................................................... 19 

Action plan ............................................................................................................................... 20 

1. The council ....................................................................................................................... 20 

2. Housing ............................................................................................................................ 29 

3. Business, public services and community ........................................................................ 36 

4. Transport .......................................................................................................................... 44 

5. Land and infrastructure ................................................................................................... 53 

6. Consumption and waste .................................................................................................. 61 

7. Actions supporting the whole plan .................................................................................. 67 

 

 

 

 

  

16



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

3 
 

Executive summary 

Leicester City Council declared a climate emergency in 2019 in response to the growing 

threat of climate change. It announced an ambition for Leicester to reach net zero carbon 

emissions by 2030, with government support, and to adapt to the climate change that’s 

already happening. The council launched a strategy and action plan in 2020, delivering over 

150 actions across areas including housing, transport, flood risk, nature and waste. Details 

of achievements from that plan are available on the climate emergency page of our website. 

 

Our updated strategy 

This is our second action plan, covering the period from 2023-28. It includes an updated 

strategy with five aims to make Leicester a ‘climate ready’ city: 

 

Starting with our aim for a net zero city, the strategy has been updated based on a 

‘roadmap’ study that identifies reducing the demand for energy and switching to electricity 

for heating and transport as the most important things to do, as the chart below shows.  

 

Climate Ready 
Leicester aims

1. A net zero city
2. Reduced 

emissions outside 
the city

3. An adapted and 
resilient city

4. Supporting our 
wider vision

5. A net zero and 
climate-adapted 

council

Business as 
usual reduction

19.2% 
(250,000t)

Reduced energy 
demand

16.8% 
(218,000t)

Switch to electricity
33.3%

(432,000t)

Solar PV
0.5%

(7,000t)

Residual emissions
30.2%

(393,000t)

Summary of Leicester's roadmap showing maximum emissions reductions 
possible and residual emissions remaining by 2030

17

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/environment-and-sustainability/climate-emergency/


Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

4 
 

For buildings, following the roadmap means adding insulation and other energy saving 

measures as well as replacing gas boilers with heat pumps. For transport it means a bigger 

role for walking, cycling and public transport, along with more online and local access to 

services to reduce trips and travel distances. It also means making buses electric and 

supporting the move to electric cars and vans by ensuring that enough charge points are 

available. The switch to electricity for heating and travel will need improvements to the 

electricity grid and ‘smart’ ways of dealing with peaks and troughs in supply and demand.  

Leicester also has a big climate impact from the carbon emissions caused by the goods and 

services bought from outside the city, and by disposal of waste. Our aims include reducing 

these emissions too by choosing low carbon goods and services, reducing consumption of 

new resources and increasing reuse and recycling. 

With the impacts of climate change already being felt in Leicester and expected to get more 

severe, our aims include adapting to these changes to protect people, nature and Leicester’s 

infrastructure and buildings. Reducing flood risk is an important part of this work, as well as 

addressing the impact of heatwaves and drought. 

We see this action plan as a big opportunity to improve quality of life in Leicester at the 

same time as we’re reducing the threat from climate change. This is why the aims of this 

plan include supporting people and communities, promoting good homes and jobs; and 

reducing poverty and health inequality. Examples include helping people reduce their fuel 

bills by insulating their home, improving health by supporting more walking and cycling and 

creating new jobs in sectors including insulation, heat pumps, electric or low carbon vehicles 

and renewable energy. 

Finally, it is important for us to lead by example in our own organisation, so our fifth aim is 

to achieve a net zero council by 2030 and to become climate-adapted - with government 

support. 

  

Action plan 

The actions in the plan are organised into seven themes and we have identified areas of 

focus in each theme based on our strategy and the areas where we have the most control or 

ability to influence and promote change in the wider city. The table below summarises the 

focus areas and more detail is provided in each theme section of the plan. 

 

Themes Focus areas 

The council • Overall delivery plan to reach net zero 

• Council’s existing operational buildings and new construction 

• Fleet 

• Procurement 

• Resilience of services and assets to changing climate 

Housing • Reducing fuel poverty 

• Council housing – energy efficiency, preparing for changes to heating 

• Private rented housing – enforcement of existing energy standards 

18



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

5 
 

• Owner-occupied housing – promoting improvements and grants available 

• Seeking support to scale up action 

Business, public services 
and community 

• Council’s commercial rented properties 

• Small and medium businesses 

• Schools 

• Young people – environmental and climate change education 

• Collaboration with other public sector organisations 

Transport • City-wide plans for low carbon transport 

• Bus service improvements and electrification 

• Promoting low carbon travel choices 

• Walking and cycling 

• Electric vehicles – enabling charging infrastructure and other support 

• Freight – fuel efficiency and reduced impact 

• Smart technologies 

• Making the case for rail improvements 

Land and infrastructure • Planning policy for low carbon, climate adapted development 

• Biodiversity net gain – application of new planning requirements 

• Council land and nature – manage for resilience to climate change 

• Flood prevention 

• Energy infrastructure – support transition to low carbon energy system 

Consumption and waste • Household and business waste recycling services 

• Strategy for low carbon future waste services 

• Council’s waste  

• Reduce climate impact of food (including through Leicester’s Food Plan) 

Actions supporting the 
whole plan 

• City-wide communications campaign and engagement work 

• Training 

• Seeking new funding sources to increase our action 

• Review of climate adaptation strategy and actions in light of latest details 
of climate change risks 

 

Details of the specific actions can be found in the individual themed sections of the action 

plan. The plan will be updated each year, with new actions and further steps in existing 

actions added where we can. We will also publish information about progress and 

achievements. 

Implementation of the actions and further additions to the plan, as well as progress in 

reducing emissions and achieving the other aims, will be managed by a Climate Emergency 

Programme Board of senior managers. The programme will be overseen by the lead 

councillor responsible for the council’s climate change work. 

  

19



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

6 
 

The scale of the challenge we face 

Climate change is one of the greatest threats facing the world today. Global heating is 

already happening and is having serious effects around the world. It is causing more 

extreme weather and worsening the catastrophic impacts of natural disasters such as 

floods, heatwaves, wildfires and storms. If urgent action is not taken these impacts will 

continue to get worse, threatening the lives and livelihoods of people across the world and 

doing massive damage to the natural environment.  

Leicester will continue to feel the worsening impacts too. The city has suffered from 

flooding in the past and NHS figures show that just over 50 excess deaths occurred during 

the heatwave periods in the summer of 2022 (although it should be stressed that the figures 

don’t prove a causal link). 

The science is clear that this global heating is being driven by human activities which are 

releasing greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide and methane, into our atmosphere. To 

avoid the worst impacts of further climate change, emissions of greenhouse gases (referred 

to in this plan as ‘carbon emissions’) need to start falling. The total emitted from now on will 

need to stay within a strict limit, called a global ‘carbon budget’. 219 countries signed the 

Paris Agreement on climate change in 2015, aiming to limit global heating to 1.5°C above 

pre-industrial levels. The UK is one of the signatories to the agreement and has set a target 

to reduce its emissions to net zero by 2050. However, despite these national commitments, 

global carbon emissions are still well over the levels needed to keep within the global 

carbon budget and are not yet starting to come down.  

Cities have a particular responsibility to act. They produce more than 60% of the carbon 

emissions from human activity and need to reduce their emissions quickly and at scale. In 

common with other cities, Leicester’s carbon ‘footprint’ includes emissions from the energy 

and fuel consumed within the city, but also those caused by the production of the goods 

and services we use and the disposal of waste we produce. As a city in a developed country 

our emissions are significantly higher per person than the global average, so it is especially 

important that we play our part in tackling this challenge.  

Leicester will also need to take action to adapt as the climate changes, protecting its people, 

buildings, critical infrastructure and natural environment against the impacts that are 

already occurring. 

All of this needs to be part of our broader vision for a proud, dynamic, diverse and 

innovative city in which the injustice of social and economic inequality is tackled alongside 

the climate emergency to create a safer, happier, fairer place to live and work. 

 

  

20



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

7 
 

Steps on the journey so far 

Here are just a few of the achievements and milestones so far towards tackling climate 

change in Leicester and worldwide. More information about our past achievements locally is 

available on our website. Refer to the section on Further information and enquiries later in 

this plan for a link. 

 

1990 Leicester becomes Britain’s first Environment City. 

1994 First Energy Action Plan published. 

2002 Launch of environmental support programme for schools – later to become 
Sustainable Schools and Eco-Schools award. 

2006 First Climate Change Action Plan – with target of halving council’s and city-wide 
carbon dioxide emissions by 2025. 

June 2012 First phase of Leicester’s new district heating scheme begins operation. 

2013 Council begins White Lights project to replace 33,000 streetlights with LEDs – 
more than halving their electricity use. 

December 2015 Paris Agreement adopted by 196 countries including the UK at COP21. 

December 2016 River Soar works create Ellis Meadows, protecting 1,500 properties from 
flooding. 

March 2017 Green BELLE small business grant scheme launches. 

February 2019 The council declares a climate emergency and announces an ambition for 
Leicester to be net zero by 2030. 

June 2019 UK sets net zero target by 2050. 

November 2019 Council launches Leicester’s Climate Emergency Conversation to hear public 
views during development of its first action plan for the climate emergency. 

March 2020 Successful bid for £33m from Transforming Cities Fund to improve public 
transport, cycling and walking infrastructure. 

May 2020 First Covid-19 Pop-Up Cycle Lane - London Road. 

July 2020 More than 50 city schools achieve an Eco Schools Green Flag award for the first 
time. 

October 2020 Council’s first Climate Emergency Action Plan published. 

November 2020 Green Homes Grant scheme opens for applications, funding energy efficiency 
works for local homes. 

March 2021 Awarded over £24M from the Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund for energy 
saving, heating decarbonisation and renewable energy measures in schools and 
other council buildings. 

21



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

8 
 

May 2021 Leicester’s first 11 electric buses introduced at three Park & Ride sites around the 
city. 

November 2021 COP26 held in Glasgow. 

January 2022 Newly refurbished charity Reuse Shop opens at Gypsum Close recycling centre, 
selling items saved from landfill. 

February 2022 Launch of Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership 

March 2022 Completion of planting almost 3,500 trees in local parks by Leicester 
Environmental Volunteers as part of the council’s Climate Woodland Project. 

June 2022 Newly refurbished St Margaret’s Bus Station becomes the UK’s first carbon 
neutral bus station in operation. 

October 2022 Leicester’s Enhanced Bus Partnership launched to improve bus services across 
the city. 

November 2022 Launch of Carbon Neutral Roadmap study 

 

Our strategy 

In response to the threat from climate change, Leicester City Council declared a ‘climate 

emergency’ in February 2019 and announced an ambition for Leicester to reach net zero 

carbon emissions by 2030, with government support. 

This is ahead of the UK target to reach net zero by 2050, reflecting our view that cities need 

to take a lead and move faster where possible– particularly in developed countries – if the 

1.5°C Paris ambition is to be achievable. 

So what do we mean by ‘net zero’? Getting to net zero involves reducing emissions as far as 

we can and compensating for any remaining (‘residual’) emissions: 

 

 

 

Our net zero ambition covers Leicester’s direct emissions from sources within the city itself, 

including petrol or diesel vehicles, gas boilers and land use (known as ‘scope 1’ emissions) 

and those from generation of electricity and heat used in the city but produced outside it 

(scope 2 emissions). 

22



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

9 
 

In terms of the carbon emissions caused outside the city in producing the goods and 

services we all consume and dealing with the waste we produce (scope 3 emissions), the 

council is committed to encouraging their reduction as fast as possible too. However, due to 

the difficulty of measuring those emissions at the city-wide scale and the more limited 

ability to influence many of them, we have not set a net zero date for them. 

Of course, reducing emissions is only part of what is needed to tackle the climate 

emergency. The climate is already changing, and this will continue, so this plan also 

addresses the need for the city to prepare for and adapt to the changes – to protect people 

and nature from the impacts. 

And finally, but most importantly, our response to the climate emergency is part of a wider 

approach to creating a sustainable city, based on the United Nations Sustainable 

Development Goals.  This means that our climate action will aim to create a ‘fair transition’ 

to net zero that supports people with the changes needed and aligns with our aims to tackle 

poverty and inequality, improve health and create jobs and economic opportunity. 

Based on the priorities outlined above, we have set the following overall aims for this plan. 

The first four aims cover the change that’s needed across the city and our work to 

encourage and support that change to happen, while the fifth aim is for the council itself to 

lead by example in its own operations, including its buildings, vehicles and land: 

 

  

Aim 1: A net zero city 

To inform our approach to achieving the 2030 net zero ambition, the council commissioned 

a study by consultants Ricardo Energy and Environment in 20211 to develop a Carbon 

Neutral Roadmap for the city. 

 
1 Leicester Carbon Neutral Roadmap – Recommendations for achieving carbon neutrality. Ricardo Energy and 
Environment.  

Climate Ready 
Leicester aims

1. A net zero 
city

2. Reduced 
emissions 

outside the city

3. An adapted 
and resilient 

city

4. Supporting 
our wider vision

5. A net zero 
and climate-

adapted council

23



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

10 
 

The study identified that Leicester had a carbon footprint of around 1.3 million tonnes of 

carbon dioxide equivalent2 (CO2e) in 2019, with domestic, industry and transport accounting 

for about three quarters of those emissions, as shown in the chart3.   

 

 

When the figures are broken down differently, it is also clear that the need for heat – to 

keep buildings warm, to provide hot water and to provide heat for industrial and 

manufacturing processes – accounts for nearly half of the emissions. So, the 

decarbonisation4 of heat must be a key part of the roadmap. 

 

 

 
2 Except where it says otherwise, wherever we refer to carbon emissions or greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in 
this plan, we express any figures as ‘carbon dioxide equivalent’ emissions - summarised as CO2e. This means 
that any emissions of GHGs other than carbon dioxide are converted into the equivalent amount of CO2 that 
would have the same impact on climate change. This allows all the figures to be compared on the same basis. 
3 Emissions from agriculture are 0.004% of the total, which is too small to show up on the chart. 
4 Where we use the term ‘decarbonisation’ we mean changing something or doing something differently to 
stop or reduce the carbon emissions it’s causing. 

22%

10%

7%
32%

24%

5%

Breakdown of Leicester's carbon emissions, 2019

Industry Commercial Public Sector Domestic

Transport Agriculture F-gases

24



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

11 
 

The roadmap study modelled what would happen to Leicester’s emissions under ‘business 

as usual’ and how close we could get to net zero by 2030 if more ambitious action was taken 

to reduce emissions. It estimated that emissions could be reduced by an absolute maximum 

of about 70% by 2030 if all technically possible measures were implemented. The study 

recommended that Leicester adopts a roadmap based principally on two priorities:  

▪ reducing energy demand, and  

▪ switching to electricity for heating, hot water and most transport.  

While the study identified electric technologies as the main realistic option to replace fossil 

fuels between now and 2030, it also considered alternatives to electric technologies for 

transport and concluded that low carbon hydrogen (also known as ‘green’ hydrogen) may 

be needed for heavy goods vehicles. This is unlikely to be readily available before 2030 so 

these vehicles will need to be decarbonised later. It also considered hydrogen for use in 

heating buildings. Again, this is unlikely to be readily available before 2030 and many 

experts think it will need to be prioritised for use in heavy industry and freight transport. 

That is why the study recommended electric technologies. 

The study also looked at the role of renewable energy generation in Leicester. It concluded 

that solar PV panels are the most suitable technology in the city, and that they could make a 

small but significant contribution to reducing carbon emissions in the short term. In the 

longer term the carbon savings they achieve will reduce as the electricity from the grid that 

the locally generated renewable electricity is replacing gets closer to net zero carbon itself. 

That is why they are estimated to be saving only 7000 tonnes of emissions per year by 2030 

in the chart below. 

 

Reducing energy demand involves insulating buildings to a high standard and reducing both 

the need for travel and the role of cars in people’s travel. The switch to electricity involves 

replacing gas boilers with electric heating and the study recommended using heat pumps 

wherever possible due to their very high energy efficiency. This would ultimately need to 

include Leicester’s district heating network, which supplies about 2,500 homes, as well as 

other buildings, with heat and hot water, and currently uses gas combined heat and power 

Business as 
usual reduction

19.2% 
(250,000t)

Reduced energy 
demand

16.8% 
(218,000t)

Switch to electricity
33.3%

(432,000t)

Solar PV
0.5%

(7,000t)

Residual emissions
30.2%

(393,000t)

Summary of Leicester's roadmap showing maximum emissions reductions 
possible and residual emissions remaining by 2030

25



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

12 
 

(CHP). It also involves replacing petrol and diesel cars and vans with fully electric models. 

This switch to electricity will require the electricity grid and the way it is used to be 

improved considerably to meet the extra demands on it. This includes using ‘smart’ 

technologies, local battery storage – including use of electric vehicles - and consumer 

incentives to reduce demand and increase supply at peak times. 

The roadmap shows that the speed and scale of change needed will be extremely 

challenging. The study estimated that to achieve the maximum emissions reductions in the 

roadmap would require, for example: 

 

65,000 
buildings raised to a very high 
standard of energy efficiency 

50% 
journeys by walking or cycling 

100% 
cars, vans and buses electric 

12,000 
heat pumps installed per year 

Tripling 
of bus use 

6000 
solar PV panel installations per 

year 

 

All this could cost up to £1bn per year, with investment across all sectors, but could create 

up to 10,000 jobs, reduce energy and fuel bills for thousands of households and small 

businesses and reduce levels of respiratory and other illness by improving housing 

conditions and air quality.  

To reach net zero by 2030 would also involve doing something to balance or offset the 

residual emissions. This could involve removing and storing an equivalent amount of 

greenhouse gases from the atmosphere, for example by planting trees. The study showed 

that tree planting in Leicester itself could only offset a maximum 1% of emissions – and even 

that would involve filling all green spaces with trees. So, to reach net zero would require 

large scale tree planting or another form of carbon removal from the atmosphere to happen 

outside the city. In due course the council will need to consider the options for balancing the 

residual emissions and decide its stance and this is included in theme 7 of our action plan. 

Based on the roadmap conclusions outlined above, our objectives for achieving a net zero 

city are set out below in the boxes on the right. 

 

26



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

13 
 

 

 

Aim 2: Reduced emissions outside the city  

Leicester’s consumption of goods and services from outside the city, as well as disposal of 

the waste produced in the city, are also major sources of carbon emissions. Studies from 

other cities suggest they could add more than another 50% on top of the direct emissions 

from energy and fuel use. The chapter on Consumption and Waste later in this plan 

discusses this further. 

All goods and services coming into the city, whether they are bought by individual 

consumers or by businesses and other organisations, will have their own carbon footprint5 

 
5 The ‘carbon footprint’ of a product or a service means the carbon emissions caused in making and delivering 
the product, or in providing the service. It is a way of comparing the impact of different products or services. 

Aim 1: Net zero council and 
city

Buildings and lighting

Reduced energy demand from 
buildings and lighting

Decarbonised heat -
replacement of fossil fuels

Transport

Reduced transport fuel 
demand

Decarbonised fleet -
replacement of fossil fuels

Energy supply

Improved electricity grid and 
'smart' supply/demand

More local renewable 
generation

Decarbonised heat networks

Residual emissions

Renewable generation 
outside the city

Carbon removal and storage

27



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

14 
 

from their production and transport. Examples range from products such as food, textiles 

and electrical goods to services including data storage and banking.  

There is a quite a big range in the carbon impact of different products, with some having a 

larger carbon footprint. Examples of higher impact products can include food, electrical 

goods, steel and concrete. As new homes continue to be built in the city and existing areas 

are regenerated these emissions caused by construction products are an important area for 

Leicester to tackle. 

Food waste can also be a major source of emissions. When food waste breaks down in 

landfill it produces the potent greenhouse gas methane – which is ten times more powerful 

than carbon dioxide in causing global heating. Both individuals and food manufacturing and 

retail businesses can do something about this by reducing wastage. In Leicester, the impact 

of food waste from households is also being reduced by separating it from other waste in a 

treatment plant and using it to produce energy and soil conditioner.  

Looking at what Leicester can do to reduce emissions from its consumption and waste, 

action can be taken by both individuals and organisations, including the council. This 

involves choices about what and how much to buy, along with efforts to minimise waste and 

prevent food waste from going into landfill. 

Based on this, our objectives for reducing emissions caused outside the city are set out 

below on the right-hand side of the diagram: 

 

 

 

Aim 2: Reduced emissions outside 
the city (scope 3)

Purchasing

Lower carbon choices by 
consumers

Supply chain decarbonisation by 
organisations

Waste

Reduced methane emissions

Reduced need for new products 
and raw materials (reduce, reuse, 

recycle)

Reduced transport and treatment 
emissions from waste

28



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

15 
 

Aim 3: An adapted and resilient city 

Leicester is being affected by climate change, like everywhere else. In the UK, summers are 

becoming hotter and drier on average and winters warmer and wetter, but with increasing 

variability. Impacts from these changes will include more heatwaves and dry spells, as well 

as more frequent intense rainfall. This increase in extreme weather will present threats to 

public health in the city, cause increased damage to buildings and infrastructure, and disrupt 

businesses and public services. Wildlife is also facing increasing pressures, with many 

species struggling to adapt and evolve to a changing climate at the rate needed. Global 

climate impacts will also affect the city, for example through disruption to the production of 

the food and goods we import, as well as impacts on our family and friends across the 

world. 

In order to adapt to the changing climate and protect people and nature from its negative 

impacts, our objectives for an adapted and resilient city are set out on the right-hand side of 

the diagram below: 

 

 

 

Aim 3: An adapted and resilient 
city

Resilient landscapes for people 
and wildlife

Create corridors of green/blue 
infrastructure as refuges for 

wildlife and to protect homes and 
workplaces e.g. from flooding

Natural solutions embedded into 
mitigation plans

Resilient infrastructure, buildings 
and transport

Critical infrastructure, buildings, 
transport systems and 

cultural/heritage assets protected

New infrastructure and buildings 
designed to withstand future 

climatic changes

Adapted organisations

Businesses and organisations 
understand their key climate risks

Businesses and organisations 
have adaptation plans in place

29



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

16 
 

Aim 4: Supporting our wider vision 

Our fourth aim is to address the climate emergency in a way which also delivers on our 

wider vision and priorities. This includes supporting people and communities, promoting 

good homes and jobs, addressing poverty and health inequality, and increasing the quality 

of life.  Together, this all forms part of our wider vision for a proud, dynamic, diverse and 

innovative city, aligned with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals: 

 

The scale of the changes required to achieve a Climate Ready city means that it is vital to 

ensure we achieve a ‘just transition’. This means taking action in a way that is fair and 

inclusive, ensuring that decarbonisation and adaptation benefits everyone and making sure 

that the need for change won’t put an unfair burden on anyone. It also means that engaging 

with Leicester’s diverse communities is vital, to understand the particular challenges they 

face and the outcomes they want to see – in order to build support for change. 

With the UK currently facing a cost-of-living crisis in which households, businesses and 

public services are dealing with unprecedented pressures, many of the actions needed to 

address climate change can also help address these pressures too. For example, increasing 

energy efficiency in homes and businesses will help reduce energy bills, while improving bus 

services and walking and cycling facilities will ensure that those unable to afford a car can 

still access jobs and facilities. 

The diagram below illustrates some of the main ways in which we can support people, 

provide economic opportunity and improve health and wellbeing in the city as part of our 

climate emergency programme. We will aim to maximise these ‘co-benefits’ through the 

30



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

17 
 

actions we choose and the way we deliver them. Where possible, we will measure and 

report the co-benefits achieved, as well as the carbon reduction and climate adaptation 

achievements.  

 

 

 

 

Aim 5: A net zero and climate-adapted council 

If we’re to successfully encourage and inspire the changes needed across the city, it is 

important that we aim to lead by example. Our ambition for our own organisation is for 

Leicester City Council’s estate and operations to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2030, 

with government support. 

This covers our direct carbon emissions, the emissions caused by our purchase of electricity 

and heat and those caused by our business travel. 

We also aim to 

• bring down the emissions caused in our supply chain from providing the goods we 

buy and the services we commission, as well as those from dealing with the waste 

we generate, and 

• make sure our services, buildings, land, vehicles and the way we work are all 

adapted for a changing climate. 

For this reason, the first theme of the action plan later in this document focuses on the 

council. 

 

Co-benefits 
of climate 

action

Improved Air 
Quality

Healthier 
lifestyles

Healthier 
homes and 
workplaces

Increased 
access to 

green space

Reduced 
poverty and 
inequality

Education and 
training

Jobs and 
opportunities

31



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

18 
 

Widening involvement 

Whilst the council is committed to showing leadership on responding to climate change in 

Leicester, it is important to emphasise that no single organisation can solve this challenge 

alone. The scale of changes that are needed will mean everyone working together to play 

their part, including other public services, energy network operators, businesses, voluntary 

organisations, community groups and individuals. There is more detail provided about who 

will need to be involved in each of the theme chapters later in this plan. 

We already work closely with partners on a range of climate change issues. An example is 

our work with local bus companies to set up the Leicester Enhanced Bus Partnership and 

launch the Leicester Bus Plan to improve and decarbonise local bus services. Another 

example is our work with the Environment Agency to reduce flood risk through the 

Integrated Flood Risk Management Strategy. 

In 2022 we jointly launched the Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership to promote even 

greater collaboration towards the shared goal of a net zero and climate adapted city with 

the partners listed below: 

 

Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership 

De Montfort University Leicester Council of Faiths NHS Leicester City CCG 

EON Energy 
Leicester and Leicestershire 

Enterprise Partnership 
Pick Everard 

Environment Agency Leicestershire Police Severn Trent Water 

Leicester Bus Partnership 
Leicestershire and Rutland 

Wildlife Trust 
University Hospitals Leicester 

NHS Trust 

Leicester City Council Midlands Net Zero Hub University of Leicester 

Leicester College National Grid 
Voluntary Action 

LeicesterShire 

 

A particularly important partner we need to work with us is central government. The Carbon 

Neutral Roadmap study has identified the huge scale of change that’s going to be required 

and the accompanying investment. Without the right level of government support, Leicester 

can’t achieve the speed of change that the science tells us is needed. For this reason, we will 

take every opportunity to engage with the Government to make the case for support. 

As well as attracting more government investment into our climate emergency programme, 

we are also looking to attract more investment from other sources including private 

investment. This is covered later in the plan. 

 

32



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

19 
 

Delivering, updating and reporting back on this plan 

We have clear arrangements in place to oversee the delivery of all the actions in this plan, 

and to monitor and publicly report what they achieve. This is overseen by the Deputy City 

Mayor responsible for climate, economy and culture via quarterly Net Zero Lead Member 

Briefings. A board of directors will receive regular progress reports from divisions. 

The actions in this plan will be reviewed and updated annually, allowing new actions to be 

added and changes to be made to existing actions where necessary. This might include 

actions being extended if more funding is identified, or actions altered in light of changing 

circumstances.  

Updates on progress and results achieved, along with additions to the plan will be published 

regularly. We will also continue to annually monitor and publish changes in the council’s 

overall carbon footprint, and publish details of changes in Leicester’s carbon footprint. 

 

Further information and enquiries 

To find out more about our climate emergency work you can: 

▪ Visit our website 

▪ Follow us on twitter: @GreenerLeic  

 

If you have an enquiry about our climate emergency work, you can email our Sustainability 

Team at sustainability@leicester.gov.uk  

 

To find out more about our work towards a sustainable Leicester visit the following website 

pages: 

▪ Air Quality 

▪ Connecting Leicester Projects 

▪ Energy Efficiency 

▪ Green Infrastructure Strategy 

▪ Leicester’s Food Plan 

▪ Local flood risk management strategy 

▪ Planning and development 

▪ Promoting biodiversity 

▪ St Margaret’s Bus Station 

▪ Transport and streets 

▪ Tree Strategy 

 

33

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/environment-and-sustainability/climate-emergency/
https://twitter.com/greenerleic
mailto:sustainability@leicester.gov.uk
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/environment-and-sustainability/air-quality/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/city-mayor-peter-soulsby/my-vision/connecting-leicester/completed-projects/connecting-leicester-projects/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/energy-efficiency/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/environment-and-sustainability/green-infrastructure-strategy/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/environment-and-sustainability/leicester-s-food-plan/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-environment/flooding-and-watercourses/local-flood-risk-management-strategy/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/planning-and-development/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/planning-and-building/conservation/nature-and-biodiversity/promoting-biodiversity/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/city-mayor-peter-soulsby/my-vision/connecting-leicester/completed-projects/st-margaret-s-bus-station/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/transport-and-streets/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/city-mayor-peter-soulsby/my-vision/sustainable-leicester/tree-strategy/


Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

20 
 

Action plan 

1. The council 

The challenge  

Looking first at our net zero ambition, the council is directly responsible for around 1.5% of Leicester’s carbon footprint from energy and fuel use. Our 

operational emissions were just under 17,000t in 2021/22, with the sources being our buildings, our travel and the electricity needed for Leicester’s 

street lighting and traffic signals. A breakdown is shown in the chart. 

Our emissions reduced by 64% between 2008/09 and 2021/22 - or just over 2,300t per year on average. If this rate continued, the council could reach 

net zero for its own operations by 2030. However, several factors helped to speed up the savings during that period, including the rate of 

decarbonisation of the electricity grid, LED lighting becoming affordable (allowing all the street lighting to be upgraded) and a reducing need for office 

accommodation. These factors are likely to reduce going forwards and measures such as installing heat pumps will be more expensive. In addition, low 

carbon technology may not be available for certain areas such as our HGVs or specialist fleet vehicles before 2030. So, the remaining emissions savings 

will be much more challenging to achieve. 

 

34



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

21 
 

Turning next to the emissions the council causes outside the city from our consumption and waste, an analysis of the carbon impact of the council’s 

procurement spend in 2011/12 indicated that our supply chain emissions, including waste disposal, were around 1.4 times the size of our operational 

emissions at that time. In other words, they were more than doubling our carbon footprint. While we don’t have more recent estimates of our supply 

chain emissions, we think it is likely that they are still at least as significant as our operational emissions. This shows just how important to address our 

supply chain emissions as well as our operational footprint. 

The estimate made in 2011/12 showed that, at the time, the level of emissions from each area of spending partly reflected the amount spent on each 

area, so health and social care came out top due to the large amount spent on this activity. However, certain areas such as waste disposal, construction 

and food and drink had a greater carbon footprint for every £ spent than others.  

 

As well as reducing our carbon emissions, the council needs to understand how climate change will impact on our services, estate and fleet so that the 

risks to service users, service continuity, the council’s estate and the wider city can be addressed. A risk assessment carried out in 2008 identified the 

top risks at the time as being flooding of the road network, buildings becoming unsuitable for use due to heatwaves and damage to buildings from 

subsidence caused by prolonged periods of low rainfall.  

With climate change impacts now increasingly affecting Leicester and the UK, and updated Met Office predictions and a National Adaptation Risk 

Assessment available, there is a strong need to review our original risk assessment. We then need to update our plans for adapting council services and 

protecting the city. We’ve included this in section seven of this action plan.  

 

How the council needs to respond 

To reach net zero by 2030, Leicester’s roadmap identifies two main priorities: reducing energy and fuel demand, and replacing fossil fuels with electric 

technologies. Installing more solar PV panels on roofs can make a small contribution too. Applying this to the council’s own estate and operations, the 

following areas for action are identified – with energy efficiency improvements to our buildings and replacement of gas boilers with heat pumps judged 

to have the greatest potential impact if carried out across our estate. 

 

 

35



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

22 
 

Outline of roadmap to net zero for the council’s estate and operations 

Reduce 
buildings 

energy 
demand 

 
Replace gas 

boilers 
 

Fit solar PV 
panels 

 
New council 

buildings ‘net 
zero-ready’ 

 
Reduce 

transport 
fuel demand 

 

Replace 
petrol and 

diesel 
vehicles 

 

Reduce 
public 

lighting 
electricity 
demand 

Retrofit of 
insulation, LEDs, 

controls 

Energy 
monitoring 

Behavioural 
measures 

+ 

Heat pumps 

More 
connections to 

district heating* 

+ 

Wherever 
buildings are 

suitable 
+ 

All low energy 
with heat 

pumps + PVs 
where possible 

+ 

Reduce need for 
travel 

More walking, 
cycling and 

public transport 
use 

Fuel-efficient 
driving 

+ 

Replace cars 
and vans with 

EV 

Look for options 
for larger / 
specialised 

vehicles 

+ 

Finish upgrading 
traffic signals**  

and any 
remaining 

lighting to LED 

High impact  High impact  Lower impact 
 Medium 

impact 
 Lower impact  

Medium 
impact 

 
Lower impact 

 

* If the district heating network can be expanded and, in the future, switched to a low carbon heat source. Refer to the section on Land and Infrastructure for more discussion of this. 

** All street lighting has been upgraded already, so only traffic signals are left to complete. Hence, this area is assessed as lower impact. 

 

Reducing emissions from our procurement and waste disposal needs to build on the work we have been doing over many years to procure and 

commission goods and services with a lower environmental impact. Staff already implement corporate guidance including the purchase of only 

certified sustainable timber, 100% recycled paper, energy efficient computers and peat-free compost. To continue to drive down our supply chain and 

waste disposal carbon footprint, we’ll need to continue to raise our standards as lower-carbon products become available. We also need to target our 

efforts where there is the biggest potential to reduce emissions, and look at how we can start to measure the reductions we’re achieving. 

36



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

23 
 

In terms of addressing the impact and risks from climate change for council services and assets, there’s a need to update our risk assessment, while 

continuing with existing risk reduction programmes such as our investment in highways drainage infrastructure (see actions in section five, Land and 

Infrastructure). 

 

Who needs to be involved? 

While the council is primarily responsible for taking the above actions, central government support and funding is needed to speed up progress and 

remove barriers. This applies particularly to replacing gas boilers and funding of the more costly energy efficiency measures in buildings, where there is 

a much longer payback.  

The involvement of the electricity network operator, National Grid, will also be needed to enable affordable upgrades of grid connections at our sites 

where they’re needed to switch to heat pumps and to install EV charge points. 

 

Focus areas 

Taking account of the areas identified above and their potential impact, as well as other factors including the cost effectiveness of measures and the 

availability of low carbon products and technologies, our actions over the five years of this plan will focus in particular on the following: 

 

Focus area Details 

Net zero 2030 delivery plan for the council’s 
estate and operations 

Developing the details of our roadmap up to 2030 to reach net zero for the emissions we report on in our annual carbon footprint 
statement. 

Using the roadmap to identify barriers and risks to reaching net zero, enabling more detailed work to be done on how to overcome 
them. 

Operational estate – energy efficiency, heat 
decarbonisation and renewables 

 

Based on the above roadmap, continuing to drive down energy demand through a combination of energy monitoring (to identify 
wastage), improved use of controls, investment in efficiency measures and promotion of energy-saving behaviours (including for 
home working). 

Systematically replacing gas boilers with heat pumps, other electric heating systems or district heating connection. 

37



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

24 
 

Installing more solar PV arrays at council facilities, and considering battery storage/smart energy management systems and links to 
EV charging. 

New council buildings – ‘climate-ready’ Based on work undertaken during our first Climate Emergency Action Plan, introducing corporate energy efficiency and carbon 
standards – including targets for reducing ‘embodied’ carbon emissions in construction materials - when constructing new council 
buildings. 

Vehicle fleet – replacing diesel and petrol 
cars and vans 

Continuing to replace diesel and petrol cars and vans in the fleet with fully electric or plug-in hybrid equivalents. 

Planning for, and rolling out, the installation of EV charge points to recharge fleet vehicles. 

Procurement Continuing to drive down our supply chain carbon and waste disposal carbon footprint. 

Developing an approach to measuring supply chain carbon emissions, including reductions achieved. 

Resilience of council services and assets Updating our previous assessment of the risks and impacts facing council finances, services and assets from climate change. Using 
the information to identify the need for further action to avoid financial risks and maintain services and assets, including protecting 
the safety and wellbeing of service users and the public, as climate change worsens. 

 

Actions for the council 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

1.01 Delivery plan for net zero council estate and operations 

Following on from the completed city-wide net zero roadmap, we 
will develop a roadmap and delivery plan to net zero for the 
council’s estate and operations.  

The plan will address how to reach net zero for the whole of the 
council’s carbon footprint including our Operational Estate, fleet 
and lighting.  The Operational Estate element will include further 
building energy surveys, energy management improvements and 
new governance arrangements, further energy efficiency measures 
and steps to replace fossil fuel-based systems with low or zero 
carbon alternatives. 

Complete the initial development of the 
plan in 2023/24. 

Use the plan to develop a pipeline of 
projects and to bid for funding for them. 

Estates and Building Services 2023/24 – initial plan 
development. 

Use of plan and its 
review / refining will 
be ongoing. 

38



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

25 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

1.02 Capital projects - operational estate  

These projects will aim to help reduce carbon emissions but also 
will help to make improvements to various operational sites. The 
improvements will include window replacements, heating systems 
and decarbonisation works. 

Invest £1.26M into carbon saving 
improvements at sites/buildings within the 
council’s operational estate. 

Estates and Building Services 2023/24 – 2024/25 

1.03 Aylestone Leisure Centre re-roof and solar PV panels 

Refurbishment of the roof at Aylestone Leisure Centre and 
installation of solar photovoltaic panels. 

Generate approx. 270MWh of renewable 
electricity per year. 

Estates and Building Services 2023/24 

1.04 Energy monitoring  

We will increase the use of our buildings energy monitoring system 
to identify more opportunities to save energy and reduce carbon 
emissions, including through the building run-time project. 

To be developed. Estates and Building Services 2023/24 – 2024/25 

1.05 Energy and water monitoring systems review for improved 
building performance and efficiency 

Complete the review of the existing Databird hardware and 
Stark/Dynamat software (begun as part of our first action plan) and 
develop an energy monitoring system and strategy that will enable 
improved monitoring of energy consumption across the estate. 

Installation of new system, integrated with 
asset management system (CAFM), to 
capture energy usage in all buildings. 
Include portal for staff and dashboard to 
provide the data to plan for further energy 
use reduction. 

Estates and Building Services  2023/24 

1.06 Building run time project 

We will check the timer settings of heating and cooling systems 
across all our operational sites to ensure that they match their 
opening and closing times. We will adjust settings and, where 
necessary, upgrade timer controls, to reduce energy use and 
carbon emissions.  

Checks and adjustments will be repeated twice a year, in April and 
October, to align with the heating/cooling season.  

To be developed. 

 

Estates and Building Services  2023/24 – 2027/28 

39



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

26 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

1.07 Heating and cooling system upgrades 

Buildings identified as needing upgrades to heating and cooling 
systems and their controls in the building run time project to be 
considered for investment. 

To be developed. Estates and Building Services  2023/24 – 2027/28 

1.08 Lighting repairs 

When old lighting is replaced, it will always be replaced with LED 
lighting if there are suitable fittings in place (and subject to 
permission from the conservation team if the site is a heritage site). 

To replace all lighting with LED lighting by 
2030, where possible. 

 

Estates and Building Services  2023/24 – 2027/28 

1.09 Ways of working project 

Optimise the use of space in our central office buildings so that we 
are able to close down buildings that we no longer need and reduce 
our overall energy use and carbon emissions.  

Reduce floorspace by at least 10% over the 
next 5 years. 

 

Estates and Building Services  2023/24 – 2027/28 

1.10 Reducing water wastage 

Where we are replacing water-based systems (for example: toilets, 
urinals, sinks, pipework and storage tanks) we will use water saving 
fittings and aim to reduce water use by 15%.  

Ensure water use is reduced by 15% on 
each project once all replacement works 
are complete. 

 

Estates and Building Services  2023/24 – 2027/28 

1.11 Leisure centre energy action plans 

Reducing energy consumption is a Key Performance Indicator in our 
Facility Business Plans for Leisure Centres. We will develop Energy 
Action Plans and Environmental Engagement Plans for each centre, 
setting out energy saving initiatives and 'good housekeeping’ for all 
colleagues. 

Consumption reduction targets to be set. Sports Services  

1.12 Reducing the environmental impact of cremation services 

Explore options to reduce the environmental impact of cremation 
services through the reduction of gas use and CO2 emissions. 

Develop a costed feasibility plan by 
December 2023.  

Bereavement Services 

 

2023/24 

40



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

27 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

Target to reduce annual gas demand by 
25% and CO2e emissions by 50t if project is 
confirmed to be feasible. 

1.13 Leicester market redevelopment phase three 

Installation of green roofs and solar PV panels as part of the 
redevelopment. 

To be confirmed. Estates and Building Services 
on behalf of Economic 
Regeneration 

2023/24 

1.14 Leisure centres strategic review 

As part of a strategic review of our leisure centres to develop a 
viability plan, we will consider details of current energy efficiency 
and carbon emissions performance, including opportunities for 
improvement, alongside all other aspects of their current and 
potential condition, performance and contribution to leisure 
provision in the city. 

Assessment of existing and potential future 
energy usage/efficiency and carbon 
emissions will form part of the review and 
options. 

Sports Services 2023/24 

1.15 Climate toolkit for capital projects – feasibility and piloting 

Support managers to pilot the new Climate Toolkit and to test the 
achievability of the proposed corporate low energy, low carbon, 
climate adaptation standards for our construction projects. 
Maintain a record of what is achieved for each project and lessons 
learned. 

The toolkit was developed in draft during our first Climate 
Emergency Action Plan. 

Emissions reductions, energy savings and 
other metrics to be recorded for each 
project. 

Energy & Sustainability 2023/24 – 2025/26 

1.16 Electric vehicle charging - council fleet 

Plan for and install further EV charge points in the Operational 
Estate to enable charging of growing numbers of electric vehicles in 
the council fleet. 

Develop an initial plan for EV charging 
infrastructure in 2023/24. 

Review and update the plan annually. 

Targets for numbers of chargers to be 
developed as part of the plans. 

Estates and Building Services – 
Asset Strategy 

2023/24 – 2027/28 

41



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

28 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

1.17 Electric library book bus 

Replace two existing diesel children's Library Book Bus vehicles with 
a new ultra-low emissions vehicle (electric) book bus. The branded 
vehicle will promote environmentally friendly services to young 
children and families across local Leicester neighbourhoods. 

Reduce CO2e emissions by 10t. Neighbourhood Services 2024/25 

1.18 Supply chain decarbonisation 

Develop the council's work on reducing carbon emissions from its 
supply chain. 

This work will be informed by a review of work elsewhere being 
carried out for us by De Montfort University in 2023/24. 

The project will consider how we can 
improve the measurement and reporting 
of carbon emissions savings achieved in 
our procurement and look at the feasibility 
of setting targets. 

 

Energy & Sustainability 2024/25 

 

 

  

42



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

29 
 

2. Housing 

The challenge  

Housing generates about a third of Leicester’s carbon emissions, so decarbonising housing is essential to reach net zero. 

 

 
 

As the chart shows, gas boilers are by far the biggest source of emissions from housing, so the way that we heat our homes will need to change. 

At the same time, many homes waste energy unnecessarily because of poor insulation and inefficient heating, lighting and appliances. Based on 

current Energy Performance Certificates, around a quarter of Leicester’s homes have an energy rating of E or below and more than another 40% have a 

‘D’ rating. This is contributing to the cost-of-living crisis and causing additional carbon emissions. So, energy efficiency needs to be improved.  

With more frequent and severe heatwaves expected as the climate changes, summer overheating could become a problem for more homes. 

Overheating could create a risk to health for the vulnerable and push bills up further if people have to resort to air conditioning. There needs to be 

more understanding of which homes are most at risk of overheating, so that the need for action can be considered and advice can be targeted. 

43



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

30 
 

 

How housing in Leicester needs to change 

For existing housing to become net zero, Leicester’s roadmap shows that a city-wide programme of energy efficiency retrofit is needed as well as the 

replacement of gas boilers (and cookers) with an electric alternative. New housing must be built to be ‘net zero-ready’ i.e. highly energy efficient and 

all-electric6. Installation of solar PV panels to both new and existing housing wherever possible will also add to emissions reductions. 

Heat pumps are the preferred electric technology for heating and hot water because they produce about three units of heat for every unit of electricity 

they use – making them much more efficient than direct electric heating such as electric panel heaters. However, some homes which can’t be well 

insulated (such as historic buildings) may not be suitable for a heat pump and may have to have direct electric heating.  

The diagram below summarises the roadmap for net zero housing: the measures needed, their scale and the impact on emissions. 

 

Roadmap for net zero housing 

Reduce energy demand  
Replace gas boilers and fit 

heat pumps* 
 Fit solar PV panels  

Make new housing ‘net zero-
ready’ 

30% reduced heat demand  

All homes with LEDs and heating 
controls 

+ 100,000+ homes + Up to approx. 34,000 homes + 

Highly energy efficient 

Heat pumps 

PVs where possible 

Up to 10% city-wide emissions 
reduction 

124,000t 

 

Up to 14% city-wide emissions 
reduction 

180,000t 

 

Up to 0.4% city-wide emissions 
reduction 

4,700t 

 Minimal or no new emissions 

 

* Or decarbonised district heating. Refer to the chapter on Land and Infrastructure for more on the role of district heating. 

 
6 Unless government strategy changes to prioritise low carbon hydrogen as the preferred option for heating homes, with an associated package of policy and other measures. 

44



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

31 
 

 

In addition to the above, as climate change worsens, some housing may also need measures to prevent or reduce summer overheating. Wherever new 

housing is built, it will need to be designed to remain comfortable in hotter summer conditions without the need for air conditioning. 

 

Who needs to be involved? 

The council can improve its own housing stock and support changes in the wider city, but housing associations, private landlords and private 

homeowners have an important role too. The scale and speed of change needed won’t be possible without substantial government financial support 

and incentives for insulation and fitting of heat pumps. Investment will be needed in the electricity network too, to cope with the extra demand. The 

table below summarises the different roles. 

 

The council Housing associations Private landlords Homeowners Government 
Electricity network 

operator – National Grid 

Manages 14% of housing 
stock.  

Enforces minimum 
standards set by 
government. 

Sets local planning policies 
for new housing (within 
nationally set limits). 

Good channels of 
communication with own 
tenants and wider 
population. 

Manage 8% of housing 
stock. 

Manage 35% of housing 
stock. 

Control 43% of housing 
stock. 

Decides retrofit funding 
and incentives. 

Sets minimum standards 
for new and existing 
homes. 

Good channels of 
communication with 
households, businesses 
and public services. 

Manages capacity of 
electricity grid to meet 
increasing demand. 
Housing switch to electric 
heating requires their help. 

 

45



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

32 
 

Focus areas for the council 

Based on the net zero roadmap, and taking account of the extent and limitations of our powers, responsibilities, funding and influence – as well as the 

impact of energy costs on households and organisations - we have identified the following areas of particular focus for our actions: 

 

Focus area Details 

Fuel poverty Helping people through the cost-of-living crisis, including by supporting them to access funding for energy efficiency improvements. 

Council housing – energy efficiency retrofit Continuing with our programmes of insulation as fast as funding will allow. 

Working with Housing Associations where possible on retrofit, so that all social housing is improved. 

Council housing – heat decarbonisation Building up experience of installing and maintaining heat pumps – focusing initially on new council housing and major 
refurbishments where they can be combined with extensive insulation. 

Later in the plan, and subject to government announcements on heat decarbonisation, as well as the cost of heat pumps and 
readiness of the electricity grid, planning for their larger scale introduction, or for an alternative heat decarbonisation route. 

New council housing Ensuring that new council housing is built to be ‘net zero-ready’ and cheap to keep warm. 

Private rented sector Using our regulatory powers to make sure private rented accommodation meets at least the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards. 

Promoting energy efficiency and decarbonisation funding opportunities to landlords. 

Owner occupied housing Promoting energy efficiency and decarbonisation opportunities, including funding available, to homeowners.  

Support and investment Actively engaging with the Government, National Grid and others to encourage the funding, investment and support needed to 
scale up energy efficiency retrofit and remove the barriers to mass replacement of gas boilers. (Refer to chapter on Actions to 
Support the Whole Plan for details of our Government Engagement Plan.) 

 

  

46



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

33 
 

Actions for housing 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

2.01 Leicester fuel poverty programme 

Establish a two-year fuel poverty advice, training and education 
programme in partnership with NEA to delivery expert energy advice, 
education and training across the city. 

Summary of key targets per year: 

▪ Telephone advice to 2,400 people 
▪ Train 100 frontline staff / volunteers 
▪ 25 community events / roadshows 
▪ 25 education sessions in schools 
▪ Distribute £0.2M emergency funding 

Public Health 2022/23 – 2024/25 

2.02 Warmer homes greener homes 

A broken boiler replacement grant scheme available to homeowners who 
are vulnerable to the cold due to poor health. 

Assist 50 households. 

 

Energy & Sustainability  

2.03 Council housing - fabric first 

The second phase of our ongoing long-term strategy providing external wall 
insulation for solid wall properties to improve the thermal efficiency of our 
worst performing social housing properties. Aims to reduce energy 
consumption, lower energy bill and improve health for householders, while 
reducing carbon emissions. 

140t reduction of CO2e emissions and 100 
homes insulated, subject to impact of rising 
costs. 

Housing – Technical 
Services 

2023/24 – 2024/25 

2.04 Council housing - loft insulation 

Ongoing programme to ensure all our social stock has a fully insulated roof 
space. 

75t reduction of CO2e emissions and 75 
homes insulated, subject to impact of rising 
costs. 

Housing – Technical 
Services 

2023/24 

2.05 Council housing - boiler replacement programme and heating control 
upgrades 

Continue to invest £3M per year in our ongoing programme to replace 
boilers in council housing with modern, energy-efficient A-rated 
condensing boilers with heating controls. 

550t reduction of CO2e emissions and 730 
boilers upgraded, subject to impact of rising 
costs. 

Housing – Technical 
Services 

2023/24 

47



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

34 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

2.06 Council housing decarbonisation plan 
Secure resources to develop a roadmap for decarbonising our council 
housing stock - covering energy efficiency and low carbon heating. 

The roadmap will estimate carbon 
emissions savings and other potential 
retrofit programme targets we can achieve. 

Housing – Technical 
Services 

2023/24 

2.07 Stocking Farm  

Deliver 50 new council homes and 5 refurb units at Stocking Farm. Project 
is an exemplar low-carbon, social housing led regeneration scheme on land 
owned by the Council. 

Reduce operational and embodied carbon 
emissions through: 

• Low energy demand: operational 
energy use intensity (EUI) 35kWh/ 
m2/year  

• Low carbon heating 

• Renewable energy generation 

• Reduced upfront carbon: <300kg 
CO2/m2 

• Reduced total embodied carbon: 
<625kg CO2/m2. 

Development Projects 
on behalf of Housing 

2023/24 – 2025/26 

2.08 Selective licensing schemes 

To bring into effect the licensing of private rented properties within 
designated areas of the city. 

To ensure that any private rented properties in the designated areas that 
fall below the Government’s Minimum Energy Efficient Standard (currently 
an EPC rating of E) are brought up to the required standard. 

All properties to meet the Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standard. 

Carbon emissions reductions to be 
estimated for any properties requiring 
improvement to meet the standard. 

Regulatory Service 2022/23 – 2027/28 

2.09 ECO4 flex 

Continue to support this national energy efficiency retrofit scheme for 
domestic dwellings. The Energy Projects Team will assess households 
referred by certified installers against the national eligibility criteria. 

Assess and respond to applications within 5 
working days of receipt. 

 

Energy & Sustainability 2022/23 – 2025/26 

2.10 Home upgrade grant phase 2 Improve 159 homes. Energy & Sustainability 2023/24 – 2024/25 

48



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

35 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

A grant scheme for low-income households living in electrically heated 
properties with low EPC ratings. A range of energy efficiency improvements 
will be available. 

2.11 Warmer Homes Surveys 

Project will provide retrofit assessments to households, with the aim of 
providing impartial advice around the most suitable energy efficiency 
improvements for the property, and how to go about sourcing 
funding/grants, or installers if able to pay. 

500 households advised per year. 

300 homes improved per year following 
advice. 

Energy & Sustainability 2023/24 – 2024/25 

 

  

49



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

36 
 

3. Business, public services and community 

The challenge 

Non-domestic buildings between them generate 39% of Leicester’s carbon emissions from energy and fuel use. The breakdown of emissions between 

industry, commerce and the public sector is shown in the chart.  

 

 

 

The sources of these emissions are more wide-ranging than for housing. They also vary considerably between the industrial, commercial and public 

sectors. A breakdown of emissions by sector is not available for Leicester specifically, but based on national data we can say the following: 

Industry – many of the emissions are caused by heat generation but, unlike in housing, a lot of this heat is used in manufacturing and other processes 

rather than space heating. 

Commercial and public sector – these sectors include offices, shops, hospitality venues, education buildings and hospitals. Space heating is a bigger 

source of carbon emissions in these buildings and uses predominantly gas at the moment. Other significant emissions sources include catering, lighting, 

50



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

37 
 

IT and cooling/ventilation. The energy demand for cooling and ventilation is likely to go up as climate change leads to higher summer temperatures and 

more frequent heatwaves – adding to carbon emissions and energy bills. 

As well as the need to tackle these energy uses to reach net zero, there is also a pressing need to reduce energy bills. Businesses, public sector 

(including schools, colleges and universities) and voluntary and community organisations are all struggling with high energy costs. Leicester’s economy 

is characterised by a lot of small and medium-sized enterprises. For some these in particular, high energy costs could be a threat to their survival.  

 

How Leicester needs to change 

The Carbon Neutral Roadmap identifies the same overall strategy for non-domestic buildings as for housing i.e. reducing energy demand as far as 

possible, switching from fossil fuels to electricity and fitting solar PV panels where possible. The diagram below sets out the maximum scale of action 

and the upper limit of emissions reductions possible from these steps by 2030. It is important to note that PV panels will save more carbon per year 

than shown here if they’re installed now. However, due to grid electricity becoming steadily lower carbon, most of the carbon savings will occur early 

on. By 2030 PV panels will be saving less carbon – although they will still reduce electricity bills and help maintain a low/zero carbon national grid. 

The replacement of fossil fuel use in manufacturing processes is not represented in the diagram, as there is not a ‘one size fits all’ approach available 

for this. Decarbonising some processes may rely on technologies or low carbon fuels that are not expected to be available or affordable between now 

and 2030, such as ‘green’ hydrogen. For other processes, it may be possible to switch away from fossil fuels by 2030. As these processes are likely to be 

a big source of emissions for the industrial sector, opportunities to support their decarbonisation before 2030, where possible, should be considered in 

addition to the roadmap measures below. 

 

  

51



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

38 
 

Roadmap for net zero non-domestic buildings 

Reduce energy demand  
Replace gas boilers and fit 

heat pumps 
 Fit solar PV panels  

New buildings ‘net zero-
ready’ 

20% reduced heat demand  

All buildings with LEDs and 
heating controls 

+ 
Switch from gas in all buildings 

Fit heat pumps in 95% of 
buildings 

+ Up to approx. 6,100 buildings + 
All low energy with heat pumps 

+ PVs where possible 

Up to 3% city-wide emissions 
reduction 

42,000t 

 

Up to 6% city-wide emissions 
reduction 

76,000t 

 

Up to 0.2% city-wide 
emissions reduction 

2,400t 

 Minimal or no new emissions 

 

 

Who needs to be involved? 

With support from the council where possible, it is businesses, public sector partners including education institutions, voluntary and community 

organisations who will need to drive change. As with housing, it will be critical for central government to provide funding and other incentives to make 

this possible and National Grid will be needed to facilitate affordable access to the increased grid capacity needed. 

 

The council 
Businesses, voluntary and 
community organisations 

Commercial landlords 
Public sector, universities, 

colleges and schools 
Government 

Electricity network 
operator – National 

Grid 

Responsible for a 
significant amount of   
commercially rented 
floorspace. 

Responsible for enforcing 
Minimum Energy 

Their buildings are 
responsible for 32% of 
Leicester’s carbon emissions 
from energy and fuel use. 

Responsible for much of 
the commercial 
floorspace in Leicester – 
have control over energy 
efficiency of building 

Their buildings (including the 
council’s) are responsible for 
7% of Leicester’s carbon 
emissions from energy and 
fuel use. 

Sets Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standards (MEES) 
for commercial rented 
property. 

Able to allocate funding and 
create incentives for retrofit 

Manages capacity of 
electricity grid to meet 
increasing demand. 

Influences affordability 
of new and improved 
grid connections – 

52



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

39 
 

Efficiency Standards 
(MEES) for commercial 
rented property. 

Has opportunity to 
support these 
organisations through 
existing programmes 
partner relationships. 

Where buildings are rented, 
the landlord will have control 
over some aspects. 

fabric, but not always 
heating systems. 

of non-domestic properties 
and investment in low 
carbon manufacturing 
processes. 

sometimes required to 
fit heat pumps. 

 

Focus areas 

There are a number of areas where the council has more ability to support and influence change – for example due to existing relationships with 

businesses, other public sector organisations and the voluntary and community sector, or ownership of assets. These are the basis of our focus areas 

set out below, which will influence our choice of actions. 

 

Focus area Details 

Corporate Estate (our commercial rental 
properties) 

Reviewing our Corporate Estate and developing a programme of improvements to energy efficiency to meet increasing national 
minimum standards.  

Also exploring opportunities to introduce low carbon electric heating where heating is the responsibility of the council, and to install 
solar PV panels. 

SMEs Looking at how we can continue to help SMEs reduce their energy use and carbon emissions, following the completion of our EU-
funded Green BELLE grant scheme. (See section four on Transport for action supporting SMEs with decarbonising transport and 
commuting.) 

Schools – energy efficiency and carbon 
emissions reduction 

Building on our existing energy efficiency and carbon reduction support services available to all schools – widening the number of 
schools we support and expanding our offer. 

Continuing to install energy efficiency and low carbon measures in council-managed school buildings. 

Schools – environmental education Continuing to support and deliver environmental education in all schools with a focus on climate change issues including energy 
saving, renewable energy, waste, sustainable drainage, biodiversity, transport and food growing. 

53



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

40 
 

Public sector and further/higher education Collaborating with partners including the NHS, universities and colleges. Refer also to section seven on Actions Supporting the 
Whole Plan for more on partnership working. 

 

Actions for business, public services and community 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

3.01 Compliance with MEES Legislation - Commercial Buildings (Minimum 
Energy Efficiency Standards)  
Ensure that council commercial properties meet the Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standards: 

• Currently an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of 'E' or 
above 

• Expected to rise to C or above by April 2027 and B or above by 
April 2030.  

Initial target: complete EPC surveys for 
properties where we don't have a valid 
certificate during 2023/24. 

Corporate Estate 2023/24 – 2029/30 

3.02 Energy saving in void buildings and spaces 
Review and improve the way we manage energy to minimise wastage in 
void buildings and parts of buildings awaiting reletting. 

Complete the review of our procedures and 
implement improvements during 2023/24. 

 

Corporate Estate 2023-24 

3.03 Pilot House redevelopment  

Complete the re-development of a complex of former factory buildings to 
create much-needed low-carbon office space and units for start-up and 
growing businesses.  

 

To achieve a 'Very Good' BREEAM rating for 
the scheme and utilise the existing district 
heating system as an efficient heating 
source. 

Capital Projects, on 
behalf of Economic 
Regeneration 

 

3.04 DOCK 3-5 

Deliver 4,000m2 of new offices and 2,000 m2 of industrial units to a low 
carbon standard well in excess of Building Control requirements.  

Operational carbon footprint: 

• 14kg CO2/m2 – offices 

• 6kg CO2/m2 – industrial units 

Development Projects, 
on behalf of Economic 
Regeneration 

2023/24 

54



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

41 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

3.05 Ian Marlow Centre redevelopment 

Redevelopment of the former Ian Marlow Centre for employment use 
focusing on fabric performance and sustainable energy generation 
throughout the specification. 

Achieve EPC ‘A’ rating. Development Projects, 
on behalf of Corporate 
Estate 

2023/24 – 2024/25 

3.06 UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

The UK Shared Prosperity Fund commissioning plans to include climate 
emergency as a cross cutting theme across the programme. 

To be confirmed Economic Development 2023/24 

3.07 BESS Energy service for schools 

Continue the Built Environment School Service (BESS) Energy for schools 
to provide energy monitoring and carbon footprint, plus additional 
support for enhanced schools. 

2% reduction in operational carbon 
emissions per year for each participating 
school. 

Renew at least 60 schools in BESS Energy 
each year. 

Energy & Sustainability 

 

2023/24 

3.08 Capital projects - educational sites  

These projects will aim to help reduce carbon emissions but also will help 
to make improvements to various educational sites. The improvements 
will include window replacements, heating systems, etc. 

Invest £1.2M into carbon saving 
improvements at educational 
sites/buildings. 

 

Estates & Building 
Services  

2023/24 – 2024/25 

3.09 Energy efficiency measures through additional capital funding 

Support schools to effectively utilise additional capital funding for energy 
efficiency measures. 

Work with at least 30 schools. 

Carbon emissions to be measured on each 
project/activity. 

Energy & Sustainability 

 

2023/24 – 2024/25 

3.10 Eco-schools programme  

Support schools to achieve their Eco-Schools Green Flag Award, an 
internationally recognised award delivered by Keep Britain Tidy - 
maintaining Leicester as the local authority in England with the highest 
number of Eco-Schools Green Flag Awards. 

80 schools to achieve the internationally 
recognised award by March 2024. 

All schools to have achieved the award at 
least once in this time period by March 
2028. 

Energy & Sustainability 

 

2023/24 – 2027/28 

55



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

42 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

3.11 Carbon Literacy training for schools 

Train school staff and governors in the externally accredited Carbon 
Literacy Training Programme - a one day course (or equivalent time) to 
understand carbon within a school setting. 

Train at least 250 school staff and 
governors. 

 

Energy & Sustainability 

 

2023/24 – 2027/28 

3.12 Tiny forests 

Engage with Earthwatch's Tiny Forest initiative on a programme of 
educational and citizen science activities leading to increased 
environmental awareness. 

Develop a funding bid to enable additional Tiny Forests to be planted in 
Leicester Schools. 

Plant additional Tiny Forests in Leicester Schools. 

By March 2026, engage with 10 schools that 
have had Tiny Forests planted in winter 
2022/23. 

Create at least one funding bid and submit 
by March 2024. 

Plant at least five more Tiny Forests by 
March 2028. 

Remove 1.27t CO2 from the atmosphere per 
forest per year. 

Energy & Sustainability 2023/24 – 2027/28 

3.13 Nature in school grounds 

Develop a funding bid to work with schools to invite nature in and use 
their school grounds to enhance biodiversity. 

Create at least one funding bid and submit.  Energy & Sustainability 2023/24 

3.14 Tree planting in school grounds 

By 2023, support schools to deliver tree planting schemes within their 
school grounds and by 2028 undertake a desktop assessment and support 
all schools that have space and have expressed an interest to undertake 
tree planting in their school grounds. 

Subject to demand, support at least four 
schools in the year 2023/24 to apply for 
funding. 

By 2028 undertake the desktop assessment 
and support all schools. 

 

Energy & Sustainability 2023/24 – 2027/28 

3.15 Climate emergency information points 

Develop information points in all city libraries to promote carbon 
reduction schemes to Leicester residents and community groups and to 
promote Leicester's Climate Emergency Action Plan. To include a 

To be confirmed. Neighbourhood Services 2023/24 – 2027/28 

56



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

43 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

programme of energy saving/carbon reduction workshops working with a 
range of internal and external partners. 

 

  

57



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

44 
 

4. Transport 

The challenge  

Transport is responsible for about a quarter of Leicester’s carbon emissions from energy and fuel use, so it is a priority area to tackle.  

Looking at where the carbon emissions from transport are being generated, the breakdown of fuel use in the chart gives a good indication. It shows 

that car and van (LGV) journeys account for 86% of fuel use – making these a priority to look at. 

 

 

 

While the obvious answer might seem to be to focus entirely on replacing petrol and diesel with electric or other low carbon vehicles, another 

important aspect of the challenge is to find a solution that meets everyone’s transport needs in the city, including the 37% of households which don’t 

have access to a car. So, if we are to have a fair transition, the approach to reaching net zero for transport needs to provide affordable, convenient, 

accessible and low or zero carbon options for everyone.  

58



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

45 
 

In terms of how climate change will affect transport, the heatwave conditions in 2022 showed how rail infrastructure can be affected by extreme 

weather and this will need to be addressed by Network Rail at a national level. At the local level, the risk from both heatwave conditions, drought 

(which can cause subsidence as soils dry out) and storms to the transport infrastructure and travel safety will need to be kept under review – with 

management and maintenance of the transport network adapted as necessary. 

 

How transport in Leicester needs to change 

To achieve a net zero transport system and great low carbon travel choices for everyone in Leicester we need to combine the two key priorities of the 

city-wide net zero roadmap: of reducing demand and switching away from fossil fuels, with the need to ensure that everyone can access services and 

facilities, and can travel as they need, regardless of whether they have access to a car. It is also important to reduce levels of traffic in order to tackle 

the negative impacts of congestion on the city. These include the impact of air pollution on health. All of this can be presented as a hierarchy of 

preferred sustainable transport options in the diagram below. 

 

 

 

59



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

46 
 

In practice, this means that the roadmap for net zero transport must combine measures to improve access and mobility without a car, and to reduce 

traffic, with those to support the uptake of electric and other low carbon vehicles. Based on the most ambitious set of measures modelled in the 

Carbon Neutral Roadmap study, the diagram below summarises the maximum that could theoretically be achieved by 2030, and what it would deliver 

in terms of carbon emissions reduction.  

In practice, these levels of change are not realisable without a step-change in Government support – particularly to fund the level of improvement to 

bus services and to walking and cycling infrastructure needed for those modes of travel to match car travel in terms of attractiveness. They will also 

require investment in EV charging infrastructure and a substantial improvement to the electricity grid in the city, to meet the extra demand for 

charging electric cars, vans and buses. 

It isn’t expected that a viable low carbon technology for HGVs will be widely available between now and 2030, so the roadmap only assumes a small 

uptake of hydrogen fuelled HGVs by then, along with some fuel demand reductions. 

 

Roadmap for net zero transport 

Reduce travel 
demand 

 
Increase role of active 

travel and public 
transport 

 EV cars and vans 
 

EV buses 
 

Freight and deliveries  

Up to 5% fewer car trips – 
home working, virtual 

meetings, walkable local 
facilities 

+ Up to 32% shift from car to 
walking and cycling + 

Up to 100% cars and vans 
EV 

+ necessary charging 
infrastructure 

+ 

Up to 100% buses EV 

+ necessary charging 
infrastructure 

+ 

10% mileage reduction 

8% improved fuel 
efficiency 

2% uptake of hydrogen 

Up to 1.2% city-wide 
emissions reduction 

15,800t 

 

Up to 2.5% city-wide 
emissions reduction 

32,700t 

 

Up to 11.4% city-wide 
emissions reduction 

148,200t 

 Up to 0.8% city-wide 
emissions reduction 

10,400t 

 Up to 0.2% city-wide 
emissions reduction 

3,200t 

 

60



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

47 
 

Who needs to be involved? 

The table below presents some of the key stakeholders who need to be involved in the above changes to transport in Leicester, along with a summary 

of their role. 

 

The council 
Other employers and 

service providers* 
Bus companies Individuals Government 

Electricity network 
operator – National Grid 

Responsible for transport 
and land use planning. 

Responsible for the 
highways network 
including roads, footways, 
sufficient number of EV 
chargers and cycle routes. 

Able to play a leadership 
role bringing partners 
together to plan and 
implement improvements. 

Ability to reach large 
numbers of people with 
information about 
sustainable travel options. 

Influence travel choices of 
employees (commuting 
and business travel) and 
service users through 
decisions about what 
transport facilities to 
provide e.g. parking, cycle 
parking, EV chargers and 
where to locate e.g. local 
vs. centralised facilities, 
proximity to bus routes, 
etc. 

Ability to invest in EVs for 
own fleet vehicles. 

Ability to invest in service 
improvements and 
introduction of electric or 
other low carbon buses. 

Where affordable, 
convenient, accessible, low 
carbon travel options are 
provided as alternatives to 
car travel, their success 
relies on individual choices. 

Determines level of 
funding for transport 
improvements locally 
including for walking, 
cycling and public 
transport. 

Sets regulatory 
requirements to ensure 
minimum standards for EV 
chargers. 

Determines UK strategy for 
transport decarbonisation 
including future role of low 
carbon hydrogen as a fuel. 

Controls capacity of 
electricity grid to meet 
increasing demand. 

Needed to help determine 
locations of EV charge 
points based on grid 
capacity. 

* Includes large employers in the city, education establishments, health facilities, sports facilities and others. 

 

Focus areas 

Based on the roadmap outlined above, and taking account of the council’s responsibilities, levels of influence and funding, the following areas will be a 

focus for action. 

 

61



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

48 
 

Focus area Details 

Transport planning for decarbonisation Developing overall plans and associated targets for reducing carbon emissions from transport as part of the new Leicester Transport 
Plan and Leicester Local Plan 

Bus service improvement and bus fleet 
decarbonisation 

Continuing to roll out service improvements and introduce electric buses as part of Leicester’s Bus Plan. 

Behavioural change Working with businesses, other employers, schools and other institutions to promote active travel and public transport for 
commuting journeys. 

Walking and cycling Continuing our ongoing Connecting Leicester programme and other measures to improve connectivity and support walking and 
cycling. 

Electric vehicles Planning for expansion of electric vehicle charging infrastructure in the city and facilitating its roll-out. 

Encouraging the uptake of electric vehicles including taxis. 

Freight transport Developing plans for improving the efficiency and reducing the impact of freight transport in the city. 

Smart transport Review future role for smart technologies in transport including autonomous vehicles. 

Rail Improvements to Leicester Station to encourage patronage. 

Lobby Government and Network Rail for electrification of the Midlands Mainline and other improvements 

 

Actions for transport 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

4.01 Leicester Transport Plan 

Development and adoption of a new Leicester Transport Plan which will 
include: 

▪ Decarbonisation of Transport Strategy 
▪ Pipeline of new schemes / initiatives with predicted carbon savings 

for each 

Completion and adoption of all parts of 
the new plan. 

Targets/predicted carbon emissions 
reductions to be developed as part of the 
Decarbonisation of Transport Strategy. 

Transport Strategy Plan development 
completed in 
2024/25. 

Plan delivery up to 
2036. 

62



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

49 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

▪ Investigation into new sources of funding to deliver the future 
transport vision 

▪ New Air Quality Action Plan 
▪ New Transport Asset Management Plan 

4.02 Review of options to deliver the LTP vision via demand management and 
funding support 

Undertake a review of options such as road user charging, green bonds, 
workplace parking levy, green loans and bids to manage demand on the 
network and provide a source of funding for LTP schemes. 

Complete the review by December 2023. Transport Strategy 2023/24 

4.03 Review technological advances as and when available 

A vast array of innovations is now coming to the fore, including 
autonomous/connected vehicles; drones and robots; integrated digital 
ticketing; sharing and hiring business models; micro mobility such as e-
bikes and behaviour change initiatives.  

The city council will leverage new technologies and concepts to support 
and deliver transformational transport change. 

 Transport Strategy Ongoing 

4.04 Behavioural change 

Encourage - via promotion, engagement, or education - active and 
sustainable travel choices for journeys across the city for all modes; 
support access to and uptake of walking, cycling, passenger transport, and 
remote access services. 

Engage five schools per year to adopt 
new travel plans. 

Undertake annual travel survey of top 
100 largest employers - Mar 24 

Develop Employer Transport Forum - 
Mar 23 

Transport Strategy Ongoing 

4.05 Speed limit management 

The city council will ensure speed limits across the city promote smooth 
progression and stable speeds, contributing to a reduction in congestion 
and point emissions. In addition, the promotion of lower speeds on 

Targets to be confirmed. Transport Strategy Ongoing 

63



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

50 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

residential roads will further improve the environment and promote 
active and sustainable travel choices. 

4.06 Leicester bus service improvement plan 

The Enhanced Bus Partnership will deliver a number of improvements to 
increase patronage and also decarbonise the buses through electrification 
of the fleet. 

Increase annual bus passengers across 
the whole network by over 10% over a 
ten year period. 

Electrification of the whole bus service 
fleet by 2030. 

Transport Strategy Ongoing to 2036 

4.07 Development of a ‘modernisation of taxi industry’ strategy  

Develop a strategy to support the role of taxis in the city under the new 
transport vision, including supporting and accelerating the transition to 
electric or other zero emission technologies. 

Target(s) to be developed. Transport Strategy and 
Licencing 

2023/24 

4.08 Taxis - vehicle licensing policy (hackney and private hire) 

Review the vehicle licensing policy with a view to reducing emissions. This 
will look at the age and emissions standards for hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles licensed by Leicester City Council. The new policy is 
likely to involve a sunset period for existing vehicles so the impact and 
benefits will be spread across a number of years. 

For Leicester City Council to review the 
licensing policy and Taxi Strategy.  

Following review consideration will be 
given to developing a target for reducing 
emissions. 

Licensing with Transport 
Strategy 

April – Dec 2023 

4.09 Inter-city rail improvements 

The city council is active in making the case for improvements to rail 
connectivity, to provide a more sustainable alternative transport for city 
residents and visitors. The council is working with partners to improve 
train services to Birmingham and Coventry and to electrify the Midland 
Mainline north from Market Harborough whilst encouraging a modal shift 
of freight onto rail. 

Make a convincing case with partners by 
2024, for Midland Mainline Electrification 
through Leicester. 

Working with partners including 
Midlands Connect and Coventry City 
Council to convince the Government to 
commit to the restoration of direct train 
services between Coventry and Leicester 
by 2026.  

Transport Strategy Ongoing to 2030 

64



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

51 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

Make the case by 2024 for improved rail 
capacity through the Leicester area to 
remove a potential bottleneck on new 
train services on the National Network. 

4.10 Connecting Leicester - city centre connectivity  

Expanding Connecting Leicester – the existing Connecting Leicester 
programme has already been successful in making the city centre more 
attractive and safer for cycling and walking. This will be expanded to 
include links into the city centre from surrounding neighbourhoods and 
employment areas. This will assist in creating a cyclable and walkable city 
centre neighbourhood where travel is quick, convenient, safe and healthy 
- as well as low or zero carbon. 

Targets to be developed. Transport Strategy Ongoing to 2030 

4.11 Walking and cycling improvements 

In the light of the successes during the pandemic of rolling out pop-up 
cycle routes, the council intends to accelerate cycling and walking 
improvements in the city. The existing Cycle Action Plan 2015-24 will be 
updated and the Local Cycling and Walking Investment Plan will be used 
to prioritise new projects across the city. These will include both strategic 
commuter routes following infrastructure improvements and local links 
between development areas, employment areas and existing residential 
areas. 

Targets to be developed. Transport Strategy Ongoing to 2023/24 

4.12 Active Leicester 

Sports Services and Public Health will mobilise partners and stakeholders 
to work differently to help tackle inactivity across the city over the next 
five years as part of the new emerging physical activity strategy Active 
Leicester. 

This will encourage more uptake of walking and cycling in place of more 
carbon intensive modes of travel. 

Strategy to be launched in 2023/24. 

We will explore including targets in the 
strategy which relate to encouraging 
lower-carbon lifestyles and behaviours. 

Sports Services and Public 
Health 

2023/24 – 2027/28 

65



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

52 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

4.13 Electric vehicle charging points 

An extensive electric vehicle charging network will be required to meet 
local and national targets and support increased uptake of electric 
vehicles. The council has been successful in securing initial funding of 
electric charging points for public car parks, Park & Ride sites and for on-
street charging.  The council will use its Electric Vehicle Transition and 
Infrastructure Strategy as a basis for seeking further investment into the 
public, workplace based and 'at home' charging network required. 

Current no. s are: 47 fast, 1 rapid, 22 on-
street residential. 

Target by 2025: 22 fast, 57 rapid, 423 on-
street residential. 

Target by 2030: 44 fast, 132 rapid, 853 
on-street residential. 

Transport Strategy Ongoing to 2030 

4.14 Move to zero emission vehicles 

Initiatives to increase the uptake of zero emission vehicles to all as 
detailed by the Electric Vehicle Transition and Infrastructure Strategy. 

Targets to be confirmed. Transport Strategy Ongoing to 2030 

4.15 Freight study and action plan 

 

Targets to be developed. Transport Strategy Ongoing, with 
completion 2023/24 

 

  

66



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

53 
 

5. Land and infrastructure 

The challenge 

Land use policies and city-wide infrastructure have a critical part to play in tackling the climate emergency. This includes the role of green spaces and 

drainage infrastructure, the challenges facing energy infrastructure and the need for land use policies and patterns of development that facilitate 

decarbonisation and climate adaptation. 

Starting with green spaces and water bodies (referred to as ‘green and blue infrastructure’), their main importance in addressing climate change in an 

urban area such as Leicester lies in the contribution that they make to reducing the impacts and risks of climate change for the city. Their contribution 

is summarised in the table below. As the city population continues to grow, requiring more housing, employment sites and facilities, it will be 

challenging to maintain and increase the climate adaptation role of green and blue infrastructure – which will be necessary as climate change worsens. 

 

Role of green and blue infrastructure in protecting people and nature from the changing climate 

BIODIVERSITY FLOODING HEATWAVES 

Helping wildlife to withstand the pressures from a 
changing climate by providing a network of good quality 
habitats, linked by ‘green and blue corridors’. 

Slowing down and storing runoff after intense or 
prolonged rainfall to reduce the risk of flooding to homes 
and businesses. 

Moderating the impact of heatwaves through the cooling 
effect of evaporation of water from trees and other 
plants (known as ‘transpiration’) and by providing shade. 

 

In terms of carbon emissions, green spaces in Leicester (and land that’s been built on) store a significant amount of carbon – mainly in soils. However, 

the limited amount of available green space means that little extra carbon could be stored by more tree planting in the city. So, to offset a significant 

amount of Leicester’s carbon emissions through tree planting would need large scale planting outside the city boundary. 

Looking at other forms of infrastructure, the Carbon Neutral Roadmap identifies that the need to replace fossil fuels is going to present some major 

challenges for energy infrastructure. In particular, as heating, hot water and transport switch to electricity and local renewable electricity generation 

increases, the grid will need to be strengthened to meet these extra demands on it. Leicester’s district heating – which efficiently provides heat and hot 

water to homes and other buildings in parts of the city – also faces the challenge of switching from its current gas combined heat and power (CHP) to a 

67



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

54 
 

lower carbon fuel source. When the district heating began operation the gas CHP was much lower carbon than electric alternatives, but that is changing 

as the grid is being decarbonised. 

Finally, turning to land use and development, becoming a net zero city will require a significant reduction in car travel as outlined in the section on 

transport earlier. Part of the ongoing challenge will be to create space for the alternative modes of travel: walking, cycling and public transport as part 

of the development and regeneration of the city. 

 

How Leicester needs to change 

To remain liveable as climate change worsens, Leicester’s built environment will need to adapt – both to withstand the greater extremes and to 

continue to provide a healthy, safe environment for people. New buildings will need to be designed to remain comfortable in hotter summers and to 

incorporate ‘sustainable drainage’ that uses nature-based approaches such as permeable surfaces, green roofs and swales to deal with rainwater 

runoff without overloading existing drains. Many existing buildings may also need to be adapted. 

The capacity of the city’s green and blue infrastructure to support biodiversity, protect us from flooding and moderate heatwave conditions will need 

to be maintained and increased too, through a combination of protection from development and active management and enhancement. Further flood 

prevention schemes will need to be implemented in vulnerable areas, prioritising sustainable drainage methods wherever possible instead of ‘hard 

infrastructure’. 

In terms of energy infrastructure, the electricity grid will need to be strengthened to cope with the rapidly growing demand from electric vehicles and 

heat pumps, and to accept increasing amounts of renewable electricity from solar PV panels. The existing heat network will need to switch from gas 

CHP to a low carbon energy sources as soon possible and further district heating will need to be considered as a solution to providing affordable, low 

carbon heating – particularly where individual heat pumps are not feasible. 

Becoming a net zero city will involve a reduction in car travel, so planning policies will need to deliver new developments that are easily accessible by 

public transport, by bike and on foot and everyday facilities will need to be available within walking distance in all neighbourhoods. Development will 

also need to be very energy efficient, with a heat pump and solar PV panels wherever suitable – as outlined earlier in the sections on housing and 

business, public sector and community. 

 

 

68



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

55 
 

Who needs to be involved? 

The council has a major role to play in this area due to our responsibilities for both land use planning, flood risk reduction and drainage, along with the 

opportunities we have as the largest landowner in the city, including the majority of its ‘green infrastructure’. However, there are many other 

stakeholders who have a role. Some of the most important ones are shown below. 

 

The council Environment Agency Developers Landowners 
Electricity network 
operator – National 

Grid 

District heating 
operator - Equans 

Government 

Responsible for setting 
and enforcing land use 
planning policies, and 
promoting sustainable 
drainage in new 
development. 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority responsible 
for developing Flood 
Risk Mgt. Strategy. 

Responsible for 
highway drainage. 

Largest landowner in 
the city – opportunity 
enhance climate 
adaptation benefits. 

Key partner of LCC in 
developing Flood Risk 
Mgt. Strategy. 

Implements flood 
prevention measures 
directly. 

Funds feasibility 
studies and 
implementation of 
flood prevent schemes 
by others. 

Responsible for 
meeting statutory 
requirements in design 
of drainage in new 
development. 

Have the opportunity 
to use Sustainable 
urban Drainage 
Schemes in new 
development. 

Have opportunities to 
enhance the 
biodiversity, flood 
prevention and 
heatwave moderation 
benefits of their land. 

Manages capacity of 
electricity grid to meet 
increasing demand. 

Needed to help 
determine locations of 
EV charge points based 
on grid capacity. 

Has opportunity to 
plan for the 
introduction of low 
carbon heat sources 
into the network. 

Has opportunity to 
promote expansion of 
the existing network. 

Sets national priorities 
and requirements for 
land use planning 
policy, including 
limitations on 
renewable energy 
infrastructure. 

Sets standards for 
energy efficiency, 
carbon reduction and 
overheating 
prevention in 
development via the 
Building Regulations. 

 

 

 

69



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

56 
 

Focus areas 

Taking account of the changes needed to address the climate emergency, as well as our powers, areas of responsibility and opportunities, the table 

below summarises the main focus areas for our actions on land and infrastructure. 

 

Focus area Details 

Planning policy and enforcement Adopting a new Local Plan with policies designed to support the transition to a net zero city which is resilient to climate change. 

Applying climate change and related planning policies to planning applications to ensure that development supports the net zero 
transition and protects or creates critical infrastructure – including ‘green and blue infrastructure’ – required to address the climate 
emergency. 

Biodiversity Net Gain Applying new national planning requirements for development to achieve a net overall gain in biodiversity.  

Establishing a Biodiversity Enhancement Network where developer-funded measures can be carried out, where the net gain can’t 
be achieved on the development site itself. 

Management of the council’s own land Managing our own land to maintain and increase its contribution to tackling the climate emergency, including through biodiversity 
enhancement, sustainable drainage (to reduce flood risk), drought-tolerant planting and moderation of heatwave impacts. 

Flood risk As Lead Local Flood Authority, continuing to work with the Environment Agency and others to plan, co-ordinate and deliver actions 
to reduce flood risk to homes and businesses. 

Energy infrastructure Engaging with the organisations responsible for the electricity grid, district heating network and other energy infrastructure to 
support forward planning and key decisions for net zero infrastructure, and to promote the necessary changes. 

 

Actions for land and infrastructure 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

5.01 Local Plan 

Completion of the Local Plan consultation process and adoption of 
Leicester's new Local Plan. This process will involve: 

Adoption of the Local Plan expected March 
2024, enabling application of policies to new 
development, securing benefits including: 

▪ energy efficiency 

Planning Ongoing. Plan 
will continue to 
2036. 

70



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

57 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

- a public consultation on the draft Local Plan and any major 
changes/revisions to this draft 

- submission of the draft Local Plan to the Secretary of State and Planning 
Inspectorate 

- an Independent Public Examination of the draft Local Plan 

- adoption of the new Local Plan by Full Council. 

The adopted Local Plan will include policies relating to the Climate 
Emergency Strategy and Action Plan, including those covering Climate 
Change and Flooding, The Natural Environment and Transportation. 

▪ renewable energy 
▪ improved air quality 
▪ sustainable travel provision 
▪ low emissions vehicles infrastructure 
▪ biodiversity gain 

5.02 Planning - green infrastructure 

Use existing, or introduce new, planning policies which encourage the 
provision of green infrastructure and maximising the benefits it has to 
mitigate and adapt to a changing climate. Applying these policies in 
discussions and negotiations on relevant planning applications as part of 
the development management, and compliance and monitoring regimes, 
where appropriate. 

Continued use of existing and then adopted 
new planning policies to secure the provision of 
benefits of green infrastructure for new and 
existing developments. 

Planning Ongoing. 

5.03 Planning - Biodiversity 
Take opportunities to protect and enhance biodiversity and the natural 
environment in ways which mitigate and adapt to a changing climate. This 
involves updating guidance relating to climate change as part of the new 
Biodiversity Action Plan, and, following the details of the Environment Act 
(2021), an approach to achieving a net gain in biodiversity using the 
planning process, which includes new policies and 
protection/enhancement sites in the new local plan. 

New policies, guidance and sites which protect 
and enhance biodiversity and the natural 
environment. 

Targets defined in Biodiversity Action Plan. 

Planning Ongoing. 

5.04 Tree preservation orders (TPOs)  

Seek to retain TPO trees within applicable powers and guidance, or secure 
appropriate replacements should their loss be justifiable. 

Optimised consideration of Tree Preservation 
Orders to contribute to maintaining the city 
tree stock. 

 

Planning Ongoing. 

71



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

58 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

5.05 Climate Woodland 

Manage our trees, hedgerows and woodland to maintain and increase their 
value for people and wildlife - as Leicester's 'urban forest' - in the face of 
growing pressures from climate change. 

Our focus in this plan will be on sustaining and enhancing the existing 
woodland and the area of tree canopy city-wide, including the new planting 
carried out during the previous plan. We will also continue to address tree 
disease and plan to replace any trees lost, based on our Tree Strategy 
commitment. 

We will consider new planting opportunities where appropriate funding is 
available that incorporates the cost of planting and long term maintenance. 

20% of council sites with trees will be surveyed 
per year. 

Trees & Woodlands 

 
2023/24 – 
2027/28 

5.06 Airwick Botanica Pollination Project 

Creation of remaining nine bee road wildflower areas/parks pollination 
zones under this project.  

Continues and completes bee roads creation begun in our first Climate 
Emergency Action Plan. 

 

Nine further wildflower areas / parks 
pollination zones created in remaining year of 
three-year project.  

Parks & Open Spaces  2023/24 

5.07 Glyphosate Reduction Trials 

Develop and implement an action plan to trial the reduction of glyphosate 
for weed treatment provisions. 

Complete trial of non-glyphosate products 
within parks and recreation grounds in 
2023/24. The result of the trials will be 
measured with a view to expanding use if 
feasible. 

Parks & Open Spaces 2023/24 – 
2025/26 

5.08 Reducing the environmental impact of new burial space 

Explore options to include environmental sustainability in the design and 
mitigation in the development and construction of, a new cemetery. 

Targets to be developed when the feasible 
options have been confirmed. 

Parks & Open Spaces 2023/24 

72



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

59 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

5.09 Highway drainage infrastructure investment programme 

Carry out improvement works to the highway drainage infrastructure, such 
as replacing sub-standard road gullies, manholes, and pipework to make it 
more resilient to climate change. But also to look at low carbon options 
such as the use of sustainable drainage. 

To invest £90k in highway drainage 
improvements. To include the replacement of 
50 sub-standard road gullies. 

Flood Risk and 
Drainage 

 

2023/24 

5.10 Flood alleviation projects 

To develop schemes through to feasibility to attract funding for design 
through to construction, that will reduce flood risk to properties, 
businesses and infrastructure in Leicester. 

To complete feasibility studies for Evington 
Brook Flood Alleviation, Western Park Strategic 
SuDS and Leicester Royal Infirmary flood 
resilience measures next financial year and help 
deliver the Hol Brook project in partnership 
with Severn Trent Water PLC and Leicestershire 
County Council. 

Flood Risk and 
Drainage 

 

2023/24 

5.11 Promotion of sustainable drainage systems in new developments 

To promote sustainable drainage systems on new development sites across 
the city by responding to all appropriate planning applications and 
establishing comprehensive adoption and maintenance processes. 

Deliver presentations to at least two internal 
departments and develop guidance on the 
council website, working with adoption leads in 
the council. 

Flood Risk and 
Drainage 

2023/24 

5.12 Adaptation and resilience to flood risk in local communities 

To engage with residential and business communities in areas of high flood 
risk to encourage and improve resilience to flood events. Help schools to 
become more climate resilient, with particular focus on flood risk, and 
respond to the challenges of changing climate and extreme weather 
events. 

Develop and implement flood resilience 
initiatives in flood risk areas, working in 
partnership with the local community 
(residents and businesses) with support from 
the Emergency Management Team and the 
Local Resilience Forum in 2023 -2024. Support 
schools to become more resilient to flood risk 
and respond to the challenges it presents in 
2024 -2025.  

Flood Risk and 
Drainage with 
Emergency 
Management and 
Energy & Sustainability 

2023/24 – 
2024/25 

5.13 Council owned water courses investment programme Invest in the control and eradication of non-
native species along our water courses. To 
control and eradicate three stands of Japanese 

Flood Risk and 
Drainage 

2023/24 

73



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

60 
 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

To respond to problems in watercourses which pass through land owned 
by the council - to help manage flood risk, increase biodiversity and 
manage the removal of non-native species. 

Knot Weed on council owned watercourses. To 
mitigate against flood risk and improve the 
biodiversity along the watercourse. 

 

  

74



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

61 
 

6. Consumption and waste 

The challenge 

While there are no figures available for the carbon emissions caused by the goods and services coming into Leicester each year, figures from a study 

elsewhere suggest they may add more than another 50% to a city’s carbon footprint. This is because goods and services generate carbon emissions 

during their production and delivery. The emissions can come from the energy used to quarry and process raw materials, for example, and during 

manufacture and transport. Even services such as banking generate emissions, including through their storage of data on servers. As discussed earlier, 

some types of goods and services have a much bigger carbon footprint than others. 

 

 

 

In terms of waste, it is estimated that disposal of Leicester’s waste is adding about another 100,000t (or 7%) to the city’s emissions each year too. The 

charts below show the estimated waste for 2019 alongside the estimated carbon emissions from its disposal. Between them, the charts illustrate that 

75



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

62 
 

landfill makes a disproportionate impact on emissions. This is due to the methane that’s released when organic matter breaks down in landfill. 

Methane is a potent greenhouse gas, as explained earlier in this plan. In comparison, reuse, recycling and composting have a disproportionately low 

impact on emissions. 

 

How Leicester needs to change 

Leicester needs to be driving down the carbon emissions associated with its consumption and waste – making lower carbon choices in what to buy and 

reducing its need for new resources. 

The city’s consumption of goods and services, and the waste we all generate, are two sides of the same coin. The more efficient we can become in the 

way we use resources, the less waste we’ll produce – and the lower our carbon footprint (and other environmental impacts) will be from both 

consumption and disposal. When combined with maximising recycling, composting and recovery of resources from the waste that can’t be avoided, 

and minimising landfill, this is where we need to be headed.  

The changes involved will need to be driven by the day-to-day choices made by individuals and organisations. This is reflected in our objectives for 

reducing the carbon emissions Leicester generates outside the city, set out earlier in this plan. However, the changes can be supported, and their 

impact can be maximised in several ways: 

• Raising awareness - providing and signposting information to make individuals and organisations aware of the carbon impact of what they buy, 

and of lower carbon options available. 

• Targeting - focusing information, support and other action more towards goods and services with the greatest opportunities to reduce carbon – for 

example those with bigger carbon footprints, or where low carbon alternatives are widely available. 

• Improving services and support - continuing to improve reuse, recycling and composting services, and supporting voluntary initiatives. 

• Targeting food and other organic waste - focusing strongly on reducing food waste and preventing its landfill through ‘anaerobic digestion’ and 

composting. 

 

76



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

63 
 

Who needs to be involved? 

As with the other areas in this plan, the council has an important role to play, but needs the involvement of others locally, as well as central 

government. The table below highlights the main stakeholders and how they can influence emissions. 

 

The council Individuals 
Businesses and public 
sector organisations 

Voluntary and community 
organisations 

Waste contractors Government 

Responsible for municipal 
waste collection and 
disposal, including 
recycling. 

Responsible for land use 
planning for waste disposal. 

Procures a large amount of 
goods and services each 
year. 

Ability to reach large 
numbers of people with 
information. 

Make daily choices as 
consumers – affecting 
carbon emissions outside 
the city. 

Contributed to nearly 20% 
of Leicester’s waste in 2019 
via the Municipal Waste 
stream. 

Make daily procurement 
choices – affecting supply 
chain carbon emissions. 
Collectively have a 
significant influence on 
suppliers. 

Service-based organisations 
can influence service users’ 
carbon emissions e.g. 
catering business using 
reusable crockery. 

Provide waste prevention 
and reuse services and 
projects e.g. charity shops, 
repair projects. 

Have an opportunity to 
develop new and improved 
recycling, composting and 
reuse services for 
customers. 

Sets targets and 
requirements for 
recycling, diversion 
from landfill, etc. 

Influences funding to 
local authorities for 
recycling and related 
services. 

 

Focus areas 

The following areas will form the main focus for our actions. They are based on the areas where we have particular responsibilities or opportunities, 

and where there is most potential for carbon emissions reductions. 

 

Focus area Details 

Household and business waste services Continued promotion of the existing recycling, composting and reuse services for household waste and for business waste 
(provided at Gypsum Close) to maintain and increase participation. 

Planning for reducing carbon emissions as part of future collection, treatment and disposal services. 

77



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

64 
 

The council’s waste Adding to and improving our existing waste reduction, reuse, recycling, composting and recovery activities for our own waste. 

The climate impact of food Raising awareness about lower carbon food options, including plant-based foods, and increasing choices in our school meals. * 

Supporting food redistribution activities, led by the voluntary sector, to address food poverty and reduce food waste. * 

Promoting local food growing to reduce ‘food miles’. * 

Ensuring that planning for future municipal waste services prioritises the minimisation of food and other organic waste and 
prevention of it getting into landfill. 

Council procurement Refer to earlier section on The Council for details of our actions to reduce the climate impact of our procurement. 

* Our actions for these areas are contained in our Food Plan. 

 

Actions for consumption and waste 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

6.01 Waste Strategy 

Deliver a Waste Strategy that will shape the future of Waste 
Services for the city of Leicester. This will incorporate a 'Waste 
Prevention Plan' and will require calculating a baseline carbon 
impact of the current service. 

To be established. Waste Management 2023/24 

6.02 Waste & Minerals Local Plan 

A spatial vision, spatial strategy, strategic objectives and core 
policies setting out key principles to guide the form of waste 
management development; development control policies 
setting out the criteria against which planning applications for 
waste management development will be considered; and a 
monitoring framework to examine the efficacy and effects of 
the core strategy and development control policies. 

To facilitate waste management 
development in a sustainable 
manner, which addresses the 
need to produce less waste, to 
significantly increase levels of 
reuse and recovery of the waste 
that is generated and to move 
away from reliance on landfill as 
a means of disposal. 

Planning 2023/24 – 2025/26 

78



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

65 
 

6.03 Business centres recycling 

Procure new waste collection and disposal services for our 
business centres, which aim to maximise levels of recycling and 
minimise landfill. 

Complete procurement exercise 
during 2023/24. 

Recycling targets to be identified 
in the procurement 
specification. 

Corporate Estate 2023/24 

6.04 Recycling in schools 

All schools to be offered support to undertake a waste stream 
analysis and act to recycle the major waste steams (paper/card, 
plastic, metal and food waste). 

All schools to have been offered 
and supported through 
programme. 

 

Energy & Sustainability 

 

2023/24 – 2025/26 

6.05 Plastic clever schools 

Support schools to become plastic clever schools - a 3-step 
award which recognised a school's commitment to reduce 
single use plastic. 

At least 50% of schools achieve 
the award (60 schools). 

 

Energy & Sustainability 

 

2023/24 

6.06 Allotments - climate change adaptations 

Work with plot holders and allotment societies to: 

Encourage the use of rainwater harvesting on allotment sites. 

Reduce the rate of pesticide and herbicide use, encouraging 
green gardening and providing training and education reduce 
overall usage. 

Increase composting rates, exploring examples of good practice 
and investigating options to roll out to a wider audience. 

Establish baseline to monitor 
against and investigate options 
by summer 2023. 

Investigate options and work 
with societies as part of 
Allotment & Community 
Growing Strategy. (Summer 
2023).  

Roll out programme targeting: 

10% water reduction by 2025 

10% herbicide reduction by 2025 

5% increase in composting by 
2025. 

Standards & Development 2023/24 – 2024/25 

6.07 Resource use in landscape schemes  Establish baseline to monitor 
against and investigate options 
by summer 2023. 

Standards & Development 2023/24 – 2024/25 

79



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

66 
 

Landscape development and open spaces - investigate the use 
of reused and recycled materials in new landscape schemes. 

Target to use 5% recycled / 
reused materials in each new 
landscape scheme (Jan 2024). 

  

80



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

67 
 

7. Actions supporting the whole plan 

The following actions will support what we are doing across all of the above themes. They focus on raising awareness, encouraging partnership and 

collaboration, seeking investment in the changed needed and making the case to central government for the additional support needed from them. 

 

No. Action Targets Responsibility Timescale 

7.01 Communications campaign 

Deliver a corporate communications and marketing campaign using new 
Climate Ready Leicester branding to raise awareness of the council's climate 
emergency response and inspire public audiences to act. 

Increase in number of residents, 
businesses and community groups 
that are actively involved in local 
climate action  

Energy & 
Sustainability 

2023/24 

7.02 Community engagement 

Deliver an annual programme of community engagement activities with key 
stakeholders, including developing a project with specific communities of 
interest to produce community climate action plans. 

Increase in number of residents, 
businesses and community groups 
that are actively involved in local 
climate action.  

 

Energy & 
Sustainability 

2023/24 – 2025/26 

7.03 Generic carbon literacy training for all council staff 

Develop a one-hour carbon literacy e-learning course to be provided on the 
council's learning platform as training available for all staff. 

Training course to be available by 
April 2024 

Energy & 
Sustainability 

2023/24 

7.04 Internal climate change advisory service 

Provide advice to council services to ensure that the climate emergency 
implications of all proposals and decisions are considered in advance, so that 
all relevant council activities are aligned with our climate emergency 
objectives. Advice to cover strategies and plans, reports, internal funding 
bids and other proposals with significant climate implications. 

Provide a statement of the climate 
emergency implications for all 
decision reports, and for all other 
reports where requested. 

Advise on key strategies and plans 
being developed. 

Energy & 
Sustainability 

2023/24 – 2027/28 

7.05 Attracting new climate emergency funding 

Investigate new sources of funding and how to attract them, including 
development of fundable project proposals and submitting bids. 

Complete first phase of research 
in 2023/24. 

 

Energy & 
Sustainability 

2023/24 – 2024/25 

7.06 Adaptation planning Increased level of understanding 
and preparedness for known and 
projected climate risks.  

Energy & 
Sustainability 

2024/25 – 2027/28 

81



Leicester City Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28 CONSULTATION DRAFT  

 

68 
 

Review the council's climate risk assessment and produce an updated 
adaptation plan for the council and city based on latest climate scenarios 
and projections for Leicester. 

7.07 Options review - offsetting residual emissions 

Review the options available and make recommendations for addressing the 
'residual' carbon emissions that can't be eliminated by the date of our net 
zero ambition. The review will cover both the residual emissions from the 
council's carbon footprint left by 2030 and those from the city's footprint 
remaining by 2040. 

Bring forward options/proposals 
by March 2026. 

Energy & 
Sustainability 

2025/26 

 

 

82



Review of Leicester City Council’s 
Draft Climate Emergency Action 

Plan (2023-2028)

Produced by the Leicester Climate Commission 
November 2023

Presented by Dr Andrew Reeves
Associate Professor, Institute of Energy and Sustainable Development, 

De Montfort University

83



Climate Commission Feedback
• Expert Feedback

• Task and finish group of experts to provide critical feedback
• Previously done for original Climate Emergency Strategy and Action Plan in 2020

• Membership
• De Montfort University
• University of Leicester
• Leicestershire County Council
• Other members of Leicester Environmental Experts Reference Group

Draft document 
shared

Comments 
collected

Discussion meeting 
with LCC 

Sustainability Team 
Officers

Report produced

84



Overall Strengths Challenges

A commendable plan

85



Recommendations and Issues to Consider

• Put forward medium-term strategic priorities for each thematic area, to offer a 
bridge between pledged actions in the plan and the long-term strategic vision.1. STRATEGIC PRIORITIES:

• Go further to systematically identify co-benefits linked to the Sustainable 
Development agenda, in particular health and addressing inequalities. 

2. SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT CO-BENEFITS:

• Develop a strategic approach to engaging businesses, organisations and citizens 
to support achievement of the Climate Emergency Action Plan.

3. COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT:

• Ensure LCC staff and partner organisations are aware of the Climate Action Plan 
and have appropriate knowledge on how to support this. 4. CAPACITY BUILDING:

• Increase the strategic ambition and pledged actions to promote Circular 
Economy approaches amongst Leicester businesses5. CIRCULAR ECONOMY:

86



 
 

Review of Leicester City 
Council’s Draft Climate 
Emergency Action Plan 

(2023-2028) 
 

 
 
 
 
Produced by the Leicester Climate Commission  
October 2023 

 

 

 

  

87



1 Introduction 
1.1 This short report by members of the Leicester Climate Commission has been produced as a 

response to viewing and discussing an October 2023 draft of Leicester City Council’s 2023-2028 

Climate Emergency Action Plan.  

1.2 The report comprises a summary offering overall feedback, a small number of specific 

Recommendations for enhancements to the Action Plan and a list of Issues to Consider which were 

raised by Commission members as feedback.  

2 Summary 
2.1 The Climate Commission commends Leicester City Council for their ongoing commitments to 

addressing the climate emergency and the production of a renewed strategy and action plan. 

2.2 The revised strategy and action plan is generally grounded in strong evidence, including a recent 

‘Roadmap’ study which identifies priority actions across the city to achieve Net Zero emissions.  

2.3 The document has also commendably adopted a broad focus incorporating emissions reductions, 

adaptation and resilience measures. The co-benefits of climate action, such as addressing health 

inequalities, are focussed on throughout, which we see as an appropriate and pragmatic approach to 

addressing the climate emergency in the context of other challenges citizens face in Leicester.  

2.4 Similarly a just transition ethos is highlighted, which again is a commendable principle to inform 

decision making on climate action across the city.  

2.5 The initial Strategy section of the document offers a very strong account of the key climate-

related issues faced by the city and does so in clear plain English. 

2.6 The action plan builds upon the strategic overview by addressing key areas for action and 

demonstrating ownership of actions by teams across the City Council and indicating a broader 

partnership-based and external advocacy approach. 

2.7 The scale and pace of action put forward in the Council’s Roadmap report to address the climate 

emergency is very significant and the actions that the Council can instigate will inevitably lag behind 

this without greater policy and financial support at a national level. However the gap between the 

scale of intended actions and pledged actions is often not made clear to the reader and the plan 

would be stronger if it sought to bridge this gap, such as through explanatory narrative or 

quantitative measures of impacts of actions (where feasible). 

2.8 Linked to point 2.7, the action plan is understandably focussed on what can be funded and 

delivered in the coming 1-2 years, but a gap exists in putting forward strategic priorities for action 

(where resources are not yet secured) for each thematic area over the coming 5 years or beyond. 

This would indicate to the reader and to council teams and departments the priorities for external 

funding, policy change to support action or otherwise. 

2.9 There are few significant thematic gaps in the action plan, but some areas would benefit from 

greater ambition and attention, particularly supporting local businesses to develop circular economy 

approaches, and leading such actions through the Council’s Economic Development team. 

 

88



3 Recommendations. 
3.1 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES: Put forward medium-term strategic priorities for each thematic area, 

to offer a bridge between pledged actions in the plan and the long-term strategic vision. 

• For each thematic area, offer some indication (quantitively where possible) on the gap that 

exists between pledged actions and the extent of action required to meet the aspirations 

laid out in the City Council’s Roadmap document. Some specific issues (e.g public charging 

point infrastructure) could be used as quantitative examples on this point.  

• Add or clarify medium-term strategic priorities for each thematic area that might be pursued 

by the Council or through partnership to bridge this gap should circumstances allow (e.g. 

increased funding, UK government policy change).  

3.2 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT CO-BENEFITS: Go further to systematically identify co-benefits 

linked to the Sustainable Development agenda, in particular health and addressing inequalities.  

• There is already strong discussion of co-benefits and the UN Sustainable Development Goals 

are mentioned in the plan. However, many issues and opportunities might warrant further 

attention and provide stronger opportunities for securing funding and achieving impacts, 

such as addressing unequal access to green space or considering the impacts of climate 

action on the city’s economic development. 

• One potential action would be to map potential actions bringing climate co-benefits against 

the UN’s 17 Sustainable Development Goals (and 169 associated objectives); another could 

be to evaluate the extent to which teams/departments/contractors for the City Council have 

embedded actions addressing the climate emergency in their planning.  

3.3 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT: Develop a strategic approach to engaging businesses, 

organisations and citizens to support achievement of the Climate Emergency Action Plan. 

• LCC’s Climate Emergency Roadmap report highlights demand reduction as an urgent priority 

to achieve the City’s climate goals, which makes community engagement a vital approach. 

The extent of actions put forward lags a significant way behind the level of communication 

and active engagement required across all stakeholder groups, including citizens, businesses 

and other organisations. 

• The proposed Climate Ready brand is a positive step. The Action Plan would be stronger if it 

put forward (or pledged to develop) a specific strategic approach to communication and 

engagement, which clarified what successful stakeholder engagement looks like in terms of 

measurable outcomes and the actions planned to achieve them. 

• Further actions could include campaigns/projects targeting specific behavioural changes, 

widespread use of the Climate Ready brand by LCC and partners and incentivising actions by 

businesses, harnessing LCC’s existing procurement, partnerships and other trigger points. 

3.4 CAPACITY BUILDING: Ensure LCC staff and partner organisations are aware of the Climate 

Action Plan and have appropriate knowledge on how to support this.   

• The success of the Action Plan relies on LCC staff and partner finding different ways of 

working, drawing upon awareness of the City’s climate goals, issue-specific knowledge of 

actions in their own area of operation and requirements to take these steps via their role. 

• This is captured in the Action Plan via a one-hour training offer and an offer of expert input 

from the Energy and Sustainability Team into decision making. Given that the team has few 

staff members, there is a potential risk to successfully offering expert input to all relevant 

decisions across the whole council, so identifying further actions to strengthen capacity 

89



building is worth consideration. This might include supporting or requiring LCC 

teams/departments to identify relevant externally provided issue-specific training to deepen 

their knowledge; providing full one-day Carbon Literacy training to selected staff/teams; or 

taking part in knowledge exchange activity/events with other local authorities that have 

innovated successfully in relation to a particular area of work. 

3.5 CIRCULAR ECONOMY: Increase the strategic ambition and pledged actions to promote Circular 

Economy approaches amongst Leicester businesses 

• Engage with local businesses to pilot, promote and support the circular economy concept, 

impacting upon approaches to manufacturing, resource use and re-use of waste. By doing 

so, ‘scope 3’ indirect carbon emissions will also be addressed, alongside those produced in 

the city. 

• Potential actions could include training, engagement and mentoring of businesses, repair 

projects (working with businesses and/or the voluntary sector), piloting business to business 

and business-to-voluntary sector re-use or joint purchase of resources on city council owned 

business parks or industrial estates. 

• This action would be likely best owned and led by the Economic Development team in the 

City Council and/or the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP). The City 

Council’s influence via procurement and other trading relationships could be used to 

influence actions in this area. 

4 Issues to Consider 
Below a further list of issues to consider are introduced, reflecting comments made by commission 

members on the draft Action Plan document. 

4.1 Supply Chain Engagement: The City Council has opportunities to influence action by businesses 

through supply chain engagement (linked to procurement, contracts or otherwise). An action to at 

least pilot this could have value, for example by engaging with suppliers with high-value contracts or 

high carbon intensity of activities, requiring them to report emissions or to pledge to support climate 

action locally. 

4.2 Communication: Leicester Climate Partnership Communications group to consider framing 

actions more often as a positive vision, with climate action meaning doing things differently rather 

than being an add-on. 

4.3 Adaptation: Remove reference to the dated 2008 Climate Risk Assessment and look to conduct a 

new one. This could potentially be achieved by replicating an approach used by Leicestershire 

County Council to translate national level impacts (identified by the Committee on Climate Change) 

to the local setting. Analysis should include those risks for which governance or management 

implications cross city and county boundaries. 

4.4 Climate Partnership: The partnership is introduced but its intended or past activities or actions 

are unclear. Consider clarifying this with a further one or two sentences of discussion. 

4.5 Fuel Poverty Programme: A fuel poverty engagement programme is mentioned. This could be 

enhanced by incorporate behavioural and low-cost tips for keeping cool in the summer – see 

previous DMU report for Leicester City Council listing appropriate actions to signpost. 

4.6 Offsetting: Future work to consider the role of carbon offsetting is mentioned. It is worth 

considering here adopting the ‘Oxford Principles’ for offsetting policy, which draw a crucial 

90



distinction between long-term carbon removal and shorter-term carbon reduction – only the former 

can be part of a systematic achievement of net zero.  

4.7 Cycling: The actions put forward make very little mention of cycling. Consider including more of 

those actions which are already planned across the city and making mention, if possible, any 

strategic view on a future replacement shared bicycle scheme across the city.  

4.8 Emissions from Goods and Services: Update the document to reflect recent analysis by DMU of 

the City’s emissions from good and services and potential approaches to calculating these emissions 

due to Council operations. Consider adding an action to estimate LCC’s carbon footprint of goods 

and services using a spend-based approach, as recommended in the recent DMU report. 

4.9 Implementation Risk: If not planned already, consider conducting a Risk Analysis (internally) on 

issues affecting successful implementation of the Action Plan within the ongoing management 

structure. This should include review of resources (staffing, budget) and external factors.  

4.10 Carbon Literacy: An action specifies ‘generic carbon literacy’ training, comprising a one-hour 

course. This cannot be called ‘Carbon Literacy’, which is an externally accredited one-day training 

programme – ‘Carbon Reduction’ is a possible alternative for the 1-hour course, used in a recent 

project by DMU and UoL. 

5 About the Leicester Climate Commission. 
The Commission is a task-and-finish group, convened from members of the Leicester Environmental 

Experts Reference Group, chaired by De Montfort University (DMU) working with University of 

Leicester (UoL) and other local professionals with climate and energy-related expertise.  

The Commission members reviewed a draft of LCC’s Climate Action Plan in October 2023, discussed 

the report and offered feedback to LCC Officers in an online meeting. This document is a summary of 

key points made in that feedback meeting and from notes compiled by reviewers. City Council staff 

have also been provided with the compiled annotations on the draft action plan document captured 

by Commission members. These notes include suggested minor amendments, such as addition of 

hyperlinks or queries of specific data presented which are not included here. 

This report has been drafted by Dr Andrew Reeves (DMU), drawing on inputs from: Dr Sandra Lee 

(UoL), Prof Heiko Balzter (UoL), Prof Ljiljana Marjanovic-Halburd (UoL), James O’Brien (Leicestershire 

County Council), Jose Hernandez (Pick Everard, Chair of Leicester Climate Partnership), Dr Andrew 

Mitchell (DMU), Prof Raffaella Villa (DMU) and Karl Letten (DMU). 

 

91





Review of Leicester City Council’s Draft Climate Emergency Action 
Plan (2023-2028)

Produced by the Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership
October 2023

Presented by Dr Jose Hernandez
Director, Head of Sustainability and Energy

Pick Everard

93



Climate Emergency Partnership Feedback

• Process
• Draft document shared
• Comments collected
• Discussion meeting with LCC Officers
• Report produced

• Active Together
• De Montfort University
• Leicester City Council
• LLEP
• Leicestershire & Rutland Wildlife Trust
• Midlands Net Zero Hub
• National Grid

• NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
• Pick Everard
• Severn Trent Water
• UHL NHS Trust
• University of Leicester94



Feedback
• The council, the city, our communities, our society are on a journey. Reinforce that the speed of 

carbon reduction, and thus actions and policies to support that speed and create acceleration 
are required. Good and robust plan heading in the right direction.

• Acknowledgement and understanding of need for action and delivery challenges, including 
policy and funding.

• Need to have cognisance of national policy but also set a direction regardless and be adaptable 
to policy changes during the duration of the plan.

• Reinforce the need not only for capital funding for projects utilising existing frameworks and 
procurement routes to increase speed delivery but also for staff resources to deliver the plan.

• Reinforce focus on refurbishments, Social Value, Whole Life Carbon and Cost Analysis and 
Circular Economy.

95



Feedback
• Reinforce the partnership development actions with neighbouring Local Authorities / outside 

organisations and regions as it is important that the City Council delivers its Climate Action Plan 
in  coordination and takes into consideration outside influences and opportunities.

• Link to the Local Area Energy Planning project for both city and county to connect questions 
around planning, grid and renewables to be included and referenced throughout the plan.

• Include further support and engagement with businesses to de-carbonise their activities 
including in their production processes, distribution and use of supply-chains. Identify forums 
and organisations of high energy users and liaise with them to coordinate plans and actions 
including funding options.

• Highlight the risk of stranded assets if not meeting regulatory standards or not adaptable to 
climate change (temperature, flooding, etc.).

• Include actions to support the existing heat network and signpost to other networks in 
development (e.g. new DMU energy centre which will heat the majority of our campus through 
heat pumps).

96



De Montfort University

Opportunities for collaboration: 

• We hope to play a part working in partnership with other 
actors in the city and beyond to support their own 
changes to address climate change. 

• Our forthcoming energy centre which will heat the 
majority of our campus through heat pumps can serve as 
an exemplar for other local organisations 

• Strong interest in engaging with citizens, businesses and 
organisations to motivate and inform climate actions

Climate Change Commitments: 
Net Zero by 2032 through direct operations, by 2045 including indirect impacts
Carbon Management Plan: https://www.dmu.ac.uk/about-dmu/sustainability/sustainable-campus/carbon-management.aspx

Alignment of LCC’s Climate emergency Action 
Plan with our own strategy

• The high prioritisation of climate action in the 
action plan is in strong alignment with DMU’s 
own climate commitments. 

• Committed to playing a ‘civic’ role to support 
people, communities and businesses in the 
Leicester area through partnership working

97

https://www.dmu.ac.uk/about-dmu/sustainability/sustainable-campus/carbon-management.aspx


Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland ICB

Opportunities for collaboration: 

• Working to support more sustainable travel options for staff and visitors to our 
services (noting that the NHS is the biggest employer, with over 22,000 staff in 
the city) through bus services/park and ride facilities.

Climate Change Commitments: 
Net Zero by 2040 through direct operations, and by 2045 for indirect impacts

Alignment of LCC’s Climate Emergency Action Plan with our own strategy
• There are many common themes in our plans – notably greening fleet,  more 

sustainable purchasing decisions, ‘care closer to home’ models of care to 
reduce patient travel and waste management.

98



National Space Centre

Opportunities for collaboration: 

• Timing of the replacement of the gas boilers and chillers will 
coincide with the development of Abbey Court within Space 
City. There is the prospect of developing an energy centre for 
the wider site in collaboration with LCC  

• High profile public engagement on site and via social media 
channels

Climate Change Commitments: 
• Net zero (Scopes 1 & 2) by 2030

Alignment of LCC’s Climate Emergency Action 
Plan with our own strategy
• The Charity has followed the recommended 

“Know your number, set a target, make a plan”
• CO2e reductions to date by using less from the 

grid: change of light bulbs, installation of solar 
panels, switch from gas to induction hobs in the 
cafe   

• Gas boilers and chillers must be replaced by air-
sourced heat pumps if the Net Zero target is to 
be achieved

• Well-placed to influence consumer behaviour 
through setting an example and present 
exhibition content on the planet’s health

99



Opportunities for collaboration: 
• We are single suppliers of Multi-Disciplinary Services on the LCC 

Project Construction Professional Services Framework covering 
infrastructure, construction and maintenance building works, both 
new build and refurbishments

• Main offices in Leicester (Charles Street!) plus access to our Design, 
Management and Group Services staff, including our Sustainability 
and Social Value Champions

• Working with other key local and relevant stakeholders, including 
DMU, UoL, UHL NHS Trust, MNZH, National Grid, Severn Trent Water

• Provision of Social Value activities, community engagement, carbon 
offsetting / insetting opportunities, etc.

Climate Change Commitments: 
• Net Zero by 2040 (Science-Based Targets framework), voluntary offsetting operational carbon emissions from 2024
• More importantly, to work with our Clients on their Net Zero Carbon, Climate Resilience and Circular Economy journeys
• Sustainability Vision: https://www.pickeverard.co.uk/vision/sustainability

Alignment of LCC’s Climate emergency Action Plan 
with our own strategy
• Our Vision is to create a collective culture, passion and 

ethos that motivates us to do the right thing, inspiring our 
staff to deliver better outcomes for our clients, and being 
accountable for our environment to create prosperous 
and sustainable communities.

• Our biggest impact is the work we do with our clients. 
Reduced carbon footprint working in local projects

• Shared focus on Net Zero Carbon, Climate Resilience and 
Circular Economy 

• We declare a vested interest in the Action Plan success as 
one third of our staff works in Leicester!

100

https://www.pickeverard.co.uk/vision/sustainability


 
 

Review of Leicester City 
Council’s Draft Climate 
Emergency Action Plan 

(2023-2028) 
 

 

 

 

Produced by the Leicester Climate Emergency 
Partnership 

October 2023 

 

 

  

101



1 Introduction 

1.1 This short report by members of the Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership has been 

produced as a response to viewing and discussing an October 2023 draft of Leicester City Council’s 

2023-2028 Climate Emergency Action Plan.  

1.2 The report comprises a summary offering overall feedback, a small number of specific 

Recommendations for enhancements to the Action Plan and a list of Issues to Consider which were 

raised by Commission members as feedback.  

 

2 Summary 

2.1  The Partnership has reviewed the feedback provided by the Leicester Climate Commission 

and agrees and supports its key points and recommendations. 

The aims of the Action Plan align with those of members of the Leicester Climate Emergency 

Partnership in relation to carbon neutrality / net zero carbon, climate resilience, a fair and just 

transition, support of the UN Sustainable Development Goals, etc. 

Close collaboration between LCC and different groups supporting and advising on climate actions 

such as the Leicester Environmental Experts Reference Group and the Leicester Climate Emergency 

Partnership needs to continue to ensure engagement of important stakeholders across the city. 

2.2  Suggestions and recommendations include: 

• Be clear on its use of terminology (carbon neutrality / NZC) and provide a glossary. It 

also needs to be clear where targets relate to LCC or to the whole city. 

• Make reference to recent changes in government policy, reinforcing the point that it is 

the journey what matters, the speed of carbon reduction, and not just the 2050 target. It 

should also take into consideration that there may be further changes in government 

policy during the duration of the plan, so it needs establish clear priorities to have 

sufficient flexibility and accommodate to different scenarios. 

• Provide clarity on how much of current and forecast carbon reductions rely on external 

societal factors outside LCC control (e.g., grid decarbonisation) and which are within LCC 

influence within the LCC estate but out of its control for the city as a whole (e.g. 

transition to EV and heat pumps). 

• Link to the Local Area Energy Planning project for both city and county to connect 

questions around planning, grid and renewables to be included and referenced 

throughout the plan. 

• Consider the use of carbon pricing based on BEIS-IPCC (DESNZ) and require Whole Life 

Carbon and Cost Analysis as a planning requirement above certain thresholds. 

102



• Include review of success implementation of other LA plans and projected 

implementation of measures set by other LAs (e.g. GLA acknowledging the obvious 

differences). 

• Include links to neighbouring Local Authorities / outside organisations and regions as it is 

important that the City Council does not deliver its Climate Action Plan in isolation and 

takes into consideration outside influences and opportunities. This may be covered 

under “partnership development” in the Actions supporting the Whole Plan but greater 

detail would be beneficial.  

• Include further support and engagement with businesses to de-carbonise their activities 

including in their production processes, distribution and use of supply-chains. Identify 

forums and organisations of high energy users and liaise with them to coordinate plans 

and actions including funding options. 

• Highlight the risk of stranded assets if not meeting regulatory standards (e.g. MEES EPCs) 

or not adaptable to climate change (temperature, flooding, etc). 

• Report figures on (hopefully) increased use of buses and in particular of EV buses) and 

cycling if figures exist, making references to Low Traffic Neighbourhood areas or 15-20 

minutes neighbourhoods if those are part of the strategy aims. 

• Include actions to support the existing heat network and signpost to other networks in 

development (e.g. new DMU energy centre which will heat the majority of our campus 

through heat pumps). 

• Include references to Social Value and Circular Economy. 

•        Include major focus on refurbishments. 

• Reinforce the need not only for capital funding for projects utilising existing frameworks 

and procurement routes to increase speed delivery but also for staff resources to deliver 

the plan. 

 

3 About the Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership. 

The Partnership membership is formed by a group of relevant stakeholders closely linked to 

Leicester providing a forum for discussion and co-ordination of activities to mitigate and adapt to the 

impacts of the Climate Emergency declared by Leicester City Council in 2019, covering areas such as 

Sharing Knowledge on decarbonisation, Skills/workforce training, Procurement, Energy networks & 

grid capacity, Comms and engagement, Education & research, Adaptation/ nature recovery. The 

Partnership also has sub-groups dedicated to Communications, Carbon Reduction (Scopes 1 and 2) 

and Procurement. 

Members include the following organisations: Active Together, De Montfort University, Leicester 

City Council, LLEP, Leicestershire & Rutland Wildlife Trust, Midlands Net Zero Hub, National Grid, 

103



NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG, Pick Everard, Severn Trent Water, UHL NHS Trust, 

University of Leicester. 

The Partnership members reviewed a draft of LCC’s Climate Action Plan in October 2023, discussed 

the report and offered feedback to the partnership in an online meeting. This document is a 

summary of key points made in that feedback meeting and from notes compiled by reviewers. 

This report has been drafted by Dr Jose Hernandez (Pick Everard Head of Sustainability and Energy, 

and Chair of Leicester Climate Partnership) drawing on inputs from Dr Andrew Reeves (DMU, 

Associate Professor at IESD), Gavin Fletcher (Midlands Net Zero Hub, Principal Net Zero Projects 

Officer for Leicester and Leicestershire) and Mary-Louise Harrison (LLEP Senior Projects Manager 

with responsibility for the Carbon Neutral Agenda). 

 

104


	Agenda
	3 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY PLAN CONSULTATION
	 Draft Climate Emergency Action Plan 2023-28
	Cllr adam clarke �deputy city mayor - Portfolio holder for climate, economy & culture�
	In this presentation….
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Aims of the new plan
	Approach to achieving net zero ambition 
	Slide Number 11
	86 new and ongoing actions including…
	How the new plan is being developed
	Shaping the plan
	CEAP 2023-28 draft 2 FINAL
	Climate Commission Presentation FINAL
	Review of Leicester City Council’s Draft Climate Emergency Action Plan (2023-2028)� � �Produced by the Leicester Climate Commission �November 2023�
	Climate Commission Feedback
	Overall
	Recommendations and Issues to Consider

	Climate Commission report 2023 FINAL
	LCC CEAP - Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership FINAL
	Review of Leicester City Council’s Draft Climate Emergency Action Plan (2023-2028)� �� � �Produced by the Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership�October 2023�
	Climate Emergency Partnership Feedback
	Feedback
	Feedback
	De Montfort University
	Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland ICB
	National Space Centre
	Slide Number 8

	Leicester Climate Emergency Partnership report FINAL


